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NOWALSKY, BRONSTON & GOTHAI^jP.gfgf ALBANY 
A Professional Limited Liability Company \~ 

Attorneys at Law W JAN IZ   AH 11'- U 3 
Leon L. Nowalsky 3500 North Causeway Boulevard l '   4    Monica Borne Haab 
Benjamin W. Bronston Suite 1442 '      Philip R. Adams, Jr. 
Edward P. Gothard Metairie, Louisiana 70002 ; 

Telephone: (504) 832-1984 ! 
Facsimile: (504) 831-0892 

January 11, 2007 

VIA OVERNIGHT DELIVERY 

Janet Dexler, Secretary 
New York Public Service Commission 
Ipmpire State Plaza, Bldg. 3 
Albany, NY 12223 

Re:     Application for Consent to the 
Transfer of Control of Telecarrier Services, Inc. 

Dear Ms. Dexler: : 

On behalf of eLEC Communications Corp., Telecarrier Services, Inc., Cyber Digital, 
Inc. and CYBD Acquisition II, Inc.. enclosed please find an original and three (3) copies of 
the referenced Application. 

Please date stamp and return the enclosed extra copy of this letter in the envelope 
provided.    ^l'Mbl^ 

Please call me should you have any questions concerning this filing. Thank you for 
your assistance with this matter. 

Sincerely, I 
i 

Leon Nowalsky jiUJ      I 

LLN/rph 
Enclosure I • 



STATE OF NEW YORK DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 
THREE EMPIRE STATE PLAZA, ALBANY, NY 12223-1350 

Internet Address: http://www.dps.state.ny.us ! 

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

PATRICIA LACAMPORA M'##mM ' PETER McGOWAN 

M%S%HARR,S *###«? ! .^Ge^Counsc, 

# 

January 26, 2007 

Mr. Leon Nowalsky 
Nowalsky, Bronston & Gothard ! 
3500 North Causeway Boulevard, Suite 1442 , 
Metairie, LA 70002 

Re: CASE 07-C-0055 - Petition of New Rochelle Telephone Corp. for Approval of the 
Transfer of Control of the Stock of Telecarrier Services, Inc. from Elec Communications 
Corp. to CYBD Acquisition II, Inc. j 

Dear Mr. Nowalsky : ! 

We have received your petition, filed on January 12, 2007, pursuant to 
Section 100 of the Public Service Law, requesting approval for the transfer of control of 
the stock of Telecarrier Services, Inc. from Elec Communications Corp. to CYBD 
Acquisition II, Inc. 

i 
i 

According to Section 100 of the Public Service Law, an application is 
deemed approved within 90 days unless the Commission or its desighee notifies the 
petitioner in writing that the public interest requires the Commission's jreview and its 
written order. I have been designated by the Commission to review such petitions. The 
Department has reviewed your petition and, based on representations in the petition, 
finds that the proposed transaction does not require the Commission's action. 
Therefore, approval is deemed granted by operation of law effective April 12, 2007. 



Please call Bruce Miller at (518) 486-2804 with any questions that you 
may have regarding this letter. 

cc:      M. LeBoeuf 
G. Pattenaude 
Central Operations (2) 

Verytguly yours, 

L 

Robert H. Mayer 
Director 

Office of Telecommunications 
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BEFORE THE 
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

STATE OF NEW YORK 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT TO THE 
TRANSFER OF CONTROL OF 
TELECARRIER SERVICES, INC. 

CASE NO. 

EXPEDITED ACTION REQUESTED 

APPLICATION 

Pursuant to the applicable Statutes of this State and the Commission's Rules and 

Regulations currently in effect and/or subsequently enacted, eLEC Communications Corp. 
i 

("ELEC") and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Telecarrier Services, Inc. (hereinafter referred 

to as "TSI") and Cyber Digital, Inc. ("CYD") and its wholly-owned subsidiary, CYBD 

Acquisition II, Inc. ("CYBDA"), by their attorneys, hereby respectfully request any necessary 

authority from this Commission for the transfer of control of the stock of TSI from ELEC to 

CYBDA. Grant of the requested authority will permit consummation of a transaction 

whereby CYBDA will acquire all of ELEC's stock in TSI pursuant to a Stock Purchase 

greement between the parties, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A". 

This filing is not an application for a transfer of operating authority and does not 

involve any transfer of customers. Instead, the Application seeks consent to change the 

ultimate control of TSI by virtue of a stock transaction. TSI will continue to provide both 

local and long distance competitive telecommunications services to its existing customers 

in this State using the same technical and managerial personnel following consummation 

of the proposed transaction. 



In support of this Application, ELEC, TSI, CYD and CYBDA provide the following 

information: 

I. THE APPLICANTS ' 

A. Telecarrier Services. Inc. ("TSI") , 

TSI is a Delaware corporation headquartered at 75 South Broadway, Suite 302, 

White Plains, NY 10601. TSI is authorized to provide both local telephone service and 

interstate, intrastate and international long distance services in six (6) states. TSI is a 

certificated provider of local and long distance services in this State;1 

B. eLEC Communications Corp.f'ELEC") 

ELEC is a holding company whose business address is 75 South Broadway, Suite 

302, White Plains, NY 10601,   and owns all of the shares of TSI.   ELEC holds no 
i 

certificates of authority. 

C. Cvber Digital. Inc. ("CYD") 

CYD is a holding company whose business address is 400|Oser Avenue, Suite 

1650, Hauppauge, NY 11788, and owns all of the shares of CYBDA. CYD holds no 

certificates of authority. 

0.       CYBD Acquisition II. Inc. ("CYBDA") 

CYBDA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CYD whose business address is 400 Oser 

Avenue, Suite 1650, Hauppauge, NY 11788. CYBDA was formed to acquire and hold all 

of the shares of TSI. CYBDA has no certificates of authority. Audited financial of 

CYBDA's parent company are attached as Exhibit "B". 

'TSI received its authority to provide local and long distance telecommunications services in this 
state in Docket No. 02-C-0940 on October 8, 2002. 



DESIGNATED CONTACTS 
i 

The designed contact for questions concerning this Application is: 

Leon L. Nowalsky, Esq. 
Nowalsky, Bronston & Gothard i 
3500 N. Causeway Blvd., Suite 1442 i 
Metairie, LA 70002 ' 
(504) 832-1984 (phone) 
(504) 831-0892 (fax) 
lnowalsky@nbglaw.com | 

With copies to: 
J.T. Chatpar 
Cyber Digital, Inc. 
400 Oser Avenue, Suite 1650 
Hauppauge, NY 11788 
Tel. (631)231-1200 

# 

And copies to: 
Paul Riss 
eLEC Communications Corp. 
75 South Broadway, Suite 302 
White Plains, NY 10601 
Tel. (914)682-0214 

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSACTION 

Grant of the required authority will permit consummation of a transaction whereby 

YBDA will acquire one-hundred (100%) percent of the stock of TSI. There will be no 

transfer of assets or customers as a result of the proposed transaction; therefore, no notice 

to customers is necessary. Each customer of TSI will continue to be serviced by TSI 

pursuant to TSI's current certifications and operating authorities. 

The proposed transfer will be seamless to TSI's customers. TSI's rates and service 
i 

offerings, as reflected in its tariff, will not change as a result of the proposed transaction. 

There will be no interruption of service. The physical assets, property, and personnel of 

TSI will remain the same after the transfer. The customer service numbers for billing and 

service problems will remain the same. 

i 



The only effect of the proposed transaction will be the change in ownership and 

control of TSI. Simplified charts showing the current ownership!structure and new 

ownership structure are attached hereto as Exhibits "C" and "D", respectively. 

IV. PUBLIC INTEREST ANALYSIS 

Grant of the instant application will serve the public interest, convenience, and 

necessity. Consummation of the proposed transaction will result in net benefits to TSI's 

customers by strengthening the financial status of TSI. The transaction will enhance TSI's 

ability to offer a broader range of innovative products and services to customers. The 

^Commission's ability and authority to regulate TSI and to ensure that it satisfies all 

obligations, commitments and regulatory requirements established by the laws of this State 

and the Commission will remain unchanged. Thus, there is no potential harm to any public 

interest raised by the proposed transaction and there will be clear benefits to the public 

upon approval and closing of this transaction. 

V. EXPEDITED REVIEW , 

Applicants request expedited review and disposition of the instant Application due 

in order to ensure that the transaction is transparent to the affected customers with no 

> 
interruption in service. , 

I 
VI. NO TRANSFER OF CERTIFICATES 

Applicants do not request transfer of TSI's Certificate of Public Convenience and 

Necessity, or other operating authority. 

i 

(THE REMAINDER OFTHIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 



VII.     CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, TSI, ELEC, CYD and CYBDA respectfully request that the 
i 

Commission grant any necessary authority for transfer of ownership of the stock of TSI 

from ELEC to CYBDA. 

DATED this    (£—     Day of January, 2007 

Respectfully submitted, 

Leon Nowalsky   i*^ 
Nowalsky, Bronston & Gothard 
A Professional Limited Liability Company 
3500 North Causeway Blvd., Suite 1442 
Metairie, Louisiana 70002 ! 
Telephone: (504) 832-1984, 
Facsimile: (504) 831-0892 , 
Email: lnowalskv(5)nbalaw.com 
Counsel for CYBD Acquisition,  Inc.,  Cyber 
Digital, Inc., Telecarrier Services, Inc. and eLEC 
Communications, Inc. 



STATE OF   ^>tofV^^ 

COUNTY OF^^V^^^zA 

VERIFICATION 

'• L£«1 : {££ am the President of Telecarrier Sevices, Inc., and am 

authorized to make this verification on its behalf. The statements made in the foregoing Application are 

true of my own knowledge, except as to those matters which are therein stated on information and belief, 

and as to those matters I believe them to be true. ' 

By:  
Name:     Ft*'  //.   /^,&s 

Title:    President i 

I 

abo»e. 2X2*St5*Z!%£$rme'No,ary *"*'*•in and ,or ,he s,a,e °iCounly named 

NotayPublic        /^ 

My commission expires am: 
VW< 



STATE OF NEW YORK 

COUNTY OF SUFFOLK 

VERIFICATION 

I, J.C. Chatpar, am the President of CYBD Acquisition II, Inc., and am authorized to make this 

verification on its behalf. The statements made in the foregoing Application are true of my own 

knowledge, except as to those matters which are therein stated on information and belief, and as to those 

matters I believe them to be true. 

Bv:       M**#*~- 
Name:4) .C. Chatpar 
Title:    President 

Sworn to and subscribed before me, Notary Public, in and for the State and County named 
above, this «3   day of January, 2007 

—sSSE8— Notary Public 

My commission expires yy/2* la 

|MO. •BO'02"'.        ...       i 

Term 



PENDING PETITION MEMO 

Date:  1/9/2007 

TO : A&F 
OGC 
OT 

FROM:     CENTRAL OPERATIONS 

UTILITY:  NEW ROCHELLE TELEPHONE CORP. 

SUBJECT:  07-C-0025 

* 

Petition of New Rochelle Telephone Corp. for Approval of the Transfer 
of Control of the Stock of New Rochelle Telephone Corp. from Elec 
ommunications Corp. to CYBA Acquisition, Inc. 



Qiy. £ _oo^5~ 

NOWALSKY, BRONSTON & GOTHARD 
A Professional Limited Liability Company 

Attorneys at Law 
Leon L. Nowalsky 3500 North Causeway Boulevard 
Benjamin W. Bronston Suite 1442 I 
Edward P. Gothard Metairie, Louisiana 70002 

Telephone: (504) 832-1984 i 
Facsimile: (504) 831-0892 I 

Monica Borne Haab 
Philip R. Adams, Jr. 

VIA OVERNIGHT DELIVERY 

January 8, 2007 

Janet Dexler, Secretary 
New York Public Service Commission 
Empire State Plaza, Bldg. 3 
Albany, NY 12223 

Re:     Application for Consent to the 
Transfer of Control of New Rochelle 
Telephone Corp. 

1—) 
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Dear Ms. Dexler: 

On behalf of eLEC Communications Corp., New Rochelle Telephone Corp., Cyber 
Digital, Inc. and CYBD Acquisition, Inc.. enclosed please find an original and three (3) 
copies of the referenced Application. ! 

* 

Please date stamp and return the enclosed extra copy of this letter in the envelope 
rovided. ' 

Please call me should you have any questions concerning this filing. Thank you for 
your assistance with this matter. 

Sincerely, ; 

Leon Nowalsky /A4^ 

LLN/rph 
Enclosure 



Exhibit A 

Stock Purchase Agreement 



EXECUTION COPY 

KL2 2466125.10 

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

DATED AS OF DECEMBER 14,2006 

BY AND AMONG 

eLEC COMMUNICATIONS CORP., 

CYBD ACQUISITION, INC., 

AND 

CYBER DIGITAL, INC., 

with respect to the stock 

of 

NEW ROCHELLE TELEPHONE CORP.    | 
i 



STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 14,2006 (me 
"Agreement"), is entered into by and among eLEC Communications Corp., a New York 
corporation having an address at 75 South Broadway Suite 302 .White Plains, NY 10601 
("SdDer"), CYBD Acquisition, Inc., a New York corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Cyber Digital (as defined below) having an address at 400 Oser Avenue, Hauppauge, New York 
11788 fAcanisition Sub"), and Cyber Digital, Inc., a New York corporation having an address 
at 400 Oser Avenue, Hauppauge, New York 11788 ("Cyber Digital" and, together with 
Acquisition Sub, collectively, "Purchaser"). | 

WHEREAS, Seller owns thirty (30) shares (the "Shares") of the common stock, no par 
value (the "CommonJJtocJf), of New Rochelle Telephone Corp., a New York corporation (the 
"Company"), which Shares constitute 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of the 
Common Stock; 

WHEREAS, Cyber Digital owns all of the issued and outstanding shares of the common 
stock of Acquisition Sub; 

WHEREAS, Seller and Lauras Master Fund, Inc. ("Laurus") are party to the Existing 
Notes (as defined herein), pursuant to which, among other things, an aggregate principal balance 
of $1,258,297.26 remains payable by Seller to Lauras; , 

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of even date 
herewith (the "TSI Agreement"), by and among Seller, Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital, 
CYBD Acquisition H Inc., a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Cyber Digital, has agreed to purchase 
from Seller 100% of the outstanding shares of the common stock, no par value, ofTelecarrier 
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation; and ! 

— i 

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell to Acquisition Sub, and Acquisition Sub desires to 
" purchase from Seller, the Shares, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements, 
covenants and provisions herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree! as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 

As used in mis Agreement each of the following terms shall have the following meaning: 
I 

1.01 "Affiliate" shall mean an affiliate of a Person as the term "affiliate" is defined in 
Rule 144(a)(1) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). 

1.02 "Audit" shall mean any audit, assessment of Taxes, any other examination or 
claim by any Tax Authority, judicial, administrative or other proceeding or litigation (including 

KL2 246612S.10 



any appeal of any such judicial, administrative or other proceeding or litigation) relating to Taxes 
and/or Tax Returns. 

I 
1.03 "Business" shall mean the resale by the Company of local and long distance 

telecommunications exchange services and other public telecommunications services. 

1.04 "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

1.05 "Computer Equipment" shall mean all computer equipment, devices and 
accessories (including personal computers, workstations, servers, data processing hardware and 
related telecommunications equipment, media and tools) used by the Company in the Business. 

1.06 "Kncnmhrance" shall mean, with respect to any Person, any mortgage, lien 
(statutory or other), pledge, hypothecation, security interest, charge or other preference or 
encumbrance of any kind (including, without limitation, any agreement to give any of the 
foregoing), or any sale of accounts receivable or chattel paper, or any assignment, deposit 
arrangement or lease intended as, or having the effect of, security, or any other interest or title of 
any vendor, lessor, lender or other secured party to or of such Person under any conditional sale 
or other title retention agreement or any capitalized lease or upon or with respect to any property 
or asset of such Person (including, in the case of shares of equity securities, stockholder 
agreements, voting trust agreements and other similar arrangements). 

1.07 "Existing Notes" shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Amended and Restated 
Secured Term Note, dated as of May 31,2006, payable by Seller to Lauras', amending and 
restating that certain Secured Convertible Term Note, dated as of February 8,2005, and (b) that 
certain Amended and Restated Secured Term Note, dated as of May 31,2006, payable by Seller 
to Lauras, amending and restating that certain Secured Convertible Term Note, dated as of 
November 30, 2005. 

1.08 Existing Note Documents" shall mean, collectively, (a) the Master Security 
Agreement, dated as of February 8,2005, among Seller, the Company andicertain other 
Subsidiaries of Seller in favor of Laurus; (b) the Stock Pledge Agreement, |dated as of February 8, 
2005, between Seller and Laurus; and (c) the Subsidiary Guarantee, dated as of February 8,2005, 
.from the Company and certain other Subsidiaries of Seller to Laurus. 

1.09 "Existing Office" shall mean that certain office space located at 75 South 
Broadway, Suite 302, White Plains, New York 10601. 

1.10 "GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting principles as in effect in the 
United States on the Closing Date. 

1.11 "(invent mental Authority" shall mean any nation or government, any federal, 
state, city, town, municipality, county, local or other political subdivision thereof or thereto and 
any department, commission, board, bureau, instrumentality, agency or other entity exercising 
executive, legislative Judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or 
pertaining to government 

KL2 2466125.10 



1.12 "Intellectual Property" shall mean all of the following, whether now owned or 
hereafter arising or acquired: licenses, franchises, permits, patents, patent rights, copyrights, 
works which are the subject matter of copyrights, trademarks, trade names, trade styles, patent 
and trademark applications and licenses and rights thereunder, including, without limitation, 
those patents, trademarks and copyrights set forth on Schedule 1.12. and all other rights under 
any of the foregoing, all extensions, renewals, reissues, divisions, continuations and 
continuations in part of any of the foregoing, and all rights to sue for past, present and future 
infringement of any of the foregoing; inventions, trade secrets, formulae, processes, compounds, 
drawings, designs, blueprints, surveys, reports, manuals and operating standards; goodwill, 
customer and other lists, in whatever form maintained; and trade secret rights, copyright rights, 
rights in works of authorship, and contract rights relating to computer software programs, in 
whatever form created or maintained. 

1.13 "Investment" shall mean, as applied to any Person, (i) any direct or indirect 
purchase or other acquisition by such Person of any notes, obligations, instruments, stock, 
securities or ownership interest, (including partnership interests and joint venture interests) of 
any Person and (ii) any capital contribution by such Person to any other Person. 

1.14 "Landlord Consent" shall mean that certain consent, addressed to Cyber Digital, 
Acquisition Sub and Seller, and substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, required 
to be obtained from South Broadway WP, LLC (the "Landlord") in order to effect an 
assignment of that certain Lease Agreement, dated as of August 18,2003, by and between the 
Landlord and the Company, pursuant to Section 22.01 (a) thereof. 

1.15 "Leased Tangible Property" shall mean all machinery, furniture, equipment 
(including Computer Equipment) and other tangible personal property, in each case which is 
subject to a leasehold interest 

1.16 "Legal Proceeding" shall mean any judicial, administrative or arbitral action, 
cause of action, suit, arbitration, mediation, claim, complaint, criminal prosecution, charge, 
examination or investigation, audit, demand, compliance review, inspection, hearing or other 
proceeding (public or private) by or before a Governmental Authority. 

1.17 "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean a material adverse effect on the Business, 
the Assets or the liabilities, properties, prospects, condition (financial or otherwise), 
performance, operations or results of operations of the Company, either individually or when 
aggregated with other such effects. 

1.18 "New Note" shall mean that certain Secured Convertible Term Note, to be dated 
the Closing Date, to be payable by Cyber Digital or Acquisition Sub (or another of Cyber 
Digital's Subsidiaries) to Laurus, in the aggregate principal amount of $ 1,300,000.00. 

1.19 "New Note Documents" shall mean, collectively, the Securities Purchase 
Agreement, the Stock Pledge Agreement, the Master Security Agreement, the Funds Escrow 
Agreement, the Subordination Agreement, the Assignment of Monies Due and to Become Due 
and the Registration Rights Agreement, each to be entered into by and among Laurus, 

KUM66t25.ltl 



Acquisition Sub, Cyber Digital and the other Persons party thereto in connection with the New 
Note. 

120    "Owned Tangible Property" shall mean all Computer Equipment and other 
machinery, furniture, equipment and other tangible personal property owned by the Company, 
used in connection with the Business and identified on Schedule 1.20. 

1.21    "Person" shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability 
company, association, joint stock company, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or 
other entity, or any Governmental Authority. 

122    "Proprietary Information" shall mean any process, design, formula, know-how, 
information, invention, trade secret, technology, or research, marketing or other data which has 
not entered the public domain. 

1 23    "Regulatory Approvals" shall mean (a) the approvals and/or consents of the 
respective Boards of Public Utilities of the States of New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, 
and (b) the notification to the U.S. Federal Communications Commission, in each case necessary 
to effect the transfer of control of the Company from Seller to Purchaser as contemplated hereby. 

1.24    "Representative" shall mean, with respect to any Person, any officer, director, 
principal, manager, member, attorney, accountant, agent, employee, consultant, financial advisor 
or other authorized representative of such Person. 

125    "SEC" shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

1.26    "Subsidiary" shall mean, with respect to any Person (the "parent"), at any date, 
any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of 
which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial 
statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, 
as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other 
entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity 
securities or more than 50% of the voting securities or, in the case of a partnership, more than 
50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, directly 
or indirectly, by one or more of the parent and its Subsidiaries. 

127    "Subsisting Contract" shall mean any contract, agreement, subcontract, 
commitment, lease, understanding, mortgage, indenture, instrument, note, option, warranty, 
purchase order, license, sublicense, franchise, insurance policy, benefit plan or legally binding 
commitment, undertaking or restriction of any kind or nature to which the Company is a party or 
by which the Company is bound, or to which any of the Assets are subject, including, without 
limitation, Third Party Licenses, telecommunications service agreements, contracts with local 
exchange carriers, agency contracts, distributor contracts, customer contracts, vendor contracts 
and billing contracts. 

KL2 2446125.10 



\2%    "Tangible Property" shall mean the Owned Tangible Property and the Leased 
Tangible Property, but excluding the Tangible Property identified on Schedule 1.28. 

1 29    "Tangible Property Leases" shall mean any Subsisting Contract granting a right 
to use Leased Tangible Property. 

1.30 "Taxes" shall mean any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, 
license, payroll, wage, employment, excise, utility, communications, production, occupancy, 
severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, customs duties, capital 
stock, capital levy, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, 
disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, 
alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including, 
without limitation, penalties, additions to tax, and interest attributable thereto (together with any 
interest on any such interest, penalties and additions to tax), and any liability for any of the 
above-listed amounts on behalf of any person through operation of law or as a result of any 
contractual agreement. 

1.31 Tax Authority" shall mean the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") and any 
other domestic or foreign authority responsible for the administration of any Taxes. 

1.32 "Tax Returns" shall mean all original and amended federal, state, local and 
foreign tax returns, declarations, statements, reports, schedules, forms and information returns 
relating to Taxes. 

133    "Third Party License" shall mean the grant to the Company by any Person of any 
right to use any Intellectual Property, Proprietary Information or other intangible personal 
property. 

ARTICLE n 

PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES: PURCHASE PRICE 

2.01 Purchase and Sale of the Shares. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of 
this Agreement, at the Closing (as defined below), Seller shall sell, transfer and assign to 
Acquisition Sub the Shares and, concurrently therewith, shall instruct Laurus to cause one or 
more certificates representing the Shares, duly endorsed or accompanied by one or more stock 
powers duly endorsed in blank, to be issued in the name of, and delivered to, Acquisition Sub, in 
consideration of the payment of the Purchase Price as provided in Section 2.02 hereof. 

2.02 Purchase Price. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, 
at the Closing, Acquisition Sub shall purchase, acquire and accept the Shares from Seller and, in 
full payment therefor, concurrently therewith, Cyber Digital or Acquisition Sub shall either (a) 

. issue the New Note in favor of Laurus, pursuant to which, among other things, an outstanding 
principal amount of -such amount, the "Purchase Price") shall be payable, which shall 
be effected and evidenced as set forth herein, or (b) pay to Laurus an amount in cash equal to the 
Purchase Price, in either case, in full satisfaction and discharge of such outstanding amount equal 
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to the Purchase Price which, immediately prior to the Closing, was payable by Seller to Laurus 
pursuant to the Existing Notes. 

ARTICLE m 

CLOSING AND PAYMENT OBLIGATION: TERMINATION 

3.01 Closing. The consummation of the purchase and sale transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall be held at the offices of Pryor Cashman Sherman & 
Flynn LLP, 410 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10022 (or such other place as the parties 
hereto may designate) on a date to be specified by Purchaser and Seller, which date shall be no 
later than the fifth business day following the satisfaction or waiver of each condition to Closing 
set forth in Article VII (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the 
Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions), unless another time or date, 
or both, are agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. Notwithstanding anything contained in this 
Section 3.01 to the contrary, in no event shall the date of the Closing be extended beyond the 
Outside Date. The date of the Closing is sometimes herein referred to as the "Closing Date". 

3.02 Deliveries bv Seller. On the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver (or shall caused to 
be delivered on its behalf) to Purchaser the following agreements and documents: 

(a) the Employee Leasing Agreement; 

(b) the TSI Agreement, duly executed by Seller, 

(c) CO a certificate of good standing for the Company, dated as of the Closing 
Date or the most recent date practicable prior thereto, issued by the Secretary of State of the State 
of New York; (ii) a certificate of good standing for the Company, dated as of the Closing Date or 
the most recent date practicable prior thereto, issued by the Secretary of State of each of New 
York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania; and (iii) a copy of the certificate of incorporation of the 
Company, including all amendments thereto, certified as of the Closing Date or the most recent 
date practicable prior thereto by the Secretary of State of the State of New York; 

(d) a certificate of an authorized officer of Laurus, certifying that Laurus 
consents to and approves of the sale of the Shares and the other transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement; 

(e) evidence that each of the Existing Notes and each Existing Note 
Document has been duly terminated canceled, amended and/or otherwise modified, such that 
neither the Company nor Purchaser shall have any liabilities or obligations thereunder from and 
after the Closing; 

(f) the Landlord Consent, duly executed and delivered by the Landlord; 

(g) evidence that each director of the Company in office immediately prior to 
the Closing has tendered to the Company his or her resignation as a director, effective as of the 
Closing; 
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(h) a certificate of an authorized officer of Seller, certifying the completeness 
and accuracy, in all material respects, of all of the representations and warranties made by Seller 
in this Agreement, as though made on and as of the Closing Date; and 

(i)       snch other documents and instruments as in the opinion of counsel for 
Purchaser may be reasonably required to effectuate the terms of this Agreement and to comply 
with the terms hereof. 

3 03 Deliveries by Purchaser. On the Closing Date, Purchaser shall deliver (or 
shall caused to be delivered on its behalf) to Seller the following agreements and documents: 

(a) the Employee Leasing Agreement; 

(b) evidence of Cyber Digital's and Acquisition Sub's due execution and 
delivery to Laurus of the New Note and the New Note Documents; 

(c) the TSI Agreement, duly executed by Cyber Digital and CYBD 
Acquisition IL Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyber Digital; 

(d) a certificate of an authorized officer of Cyber Digital, certifying that 
Purchaser has made and/or obtained all of the Regulatory Approvals; 

(e) a certificate of an authorized officer of Cyber Digital, certifying the 
completeness and accuracy, in all material respects, of all of the representations and warranties 
made by each of Cyber Digital and Acquisition Sub in this Agreement, as though made on and as 
of the Closing Date; 

(f) evidence reasonably satisfactory to Seller that Laurus has applied an 
amount equal to the Purchase Price to the payment of outstanding principal of or accrued interest 
on the Existing Notes; and 

(g) such other documents and instruments as in the opinion of counsel for 
Seller may be reasonably required to effectuate the terms of this Agreement and to comply with 
the terms hereof. 

3.04 Further Assurances. After the Closing, at the request of Purchaser and without 
further conditions or consideration, Seller shall execute and deliver from time to time such other 
instruments of conveyance and transfer and take such other actions as Purchaser may reasonably 
request in order to more effectively consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to vest 
in Acquisition Sub all right, title and interest in and to the Shares. 

3.05 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions 
contemplated hereby may be abandoned any time prior to the Closing as follows: 

(a)       at the election of either Purchaser or Seller at any time after March 2„2007 
(the "Outside Date"), if the Closing shall not have then occurred by the close of business on 
such date, provided that neither Purchaser nor Seller shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement 
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on or after the Outside Date if the principal reason the transactions contemplated hereby shall not 
• have been consummated by such time is the willful and material breach by such party (or in the 
case of Purchaser, by Cyber Digital or Acquisition Sub) of any of its or their obligations under 

this Agreement; 

(b) by mutual written consent of Purchaser and Seller, 

(c) by either Purchaser or Seller, if there shall be in effect any applicable law 
or any final nonappcalablc order of a Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction, in each 
case restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby; it being agreed that the parties hereto shall promptly appeal any adverse 
determination which is not nonappealable (and pursue such appeal with reasonable diligence); 

(d) by Purchaser, if (i) Purchaser is not then in material breach of any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, and (ii) any of 
the conditions set forth in Section 7,01 is incapable of fulfillment, or if the breach giving rise to 
the failure of any such conditions to be satisfied is capable of being cured, such breach shall not 
have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt by Seller of written notice of such 
breach from Purchaser; or 

(c)      by Seller, if (x) Seller is not then in material breach of any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, and (y) any of 
the conditions set forth in Section 7.02 is incapable of fulfillment, or if the breach giving nsc to 
the failure of any such conditions to be satisfied is capable of being cured, such breach shall not 
have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt by Purchaser of written notice of such 
breach from Seller. 

3 06    Procedure Upon Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement by 
Purchaser or Seller, or both, pursuant to the foregoing Section 3.05, written notice thereof shall 
forthwith be given to the other party, and this Agreement shall terrninate, and the transactions 
contemplated hereby shall be abandoned, without further action by Purchaser or Seller. 

3 07    Effect "f Termination. In the event that this Agreement is validly terminated in 
accordance with Sections 3.05 and 3.06, then each of the parties hereto shall be relieved of their 
duties and obligations arising under this Agreement after the date of such termination and such 
termination shall be without liability to any of Purchaser or Seller; provided, that no such 
termination shall relieve any party hereto from liability for any breach of this Agreement; 
provided, further, that (a) the obligations of the parties set forth in Section 4.07(a) hereof shall 
survive any such termination and shall be enforceable hereunder, and (b) no termination shall 
impair the right of any party to compel specific performance by any other party of its obligations 
hereunder. 
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ARTICLE IV 

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS: COVENANTS 

4.01     A praemenl Not to Cnmneto. Not to SgUgt and to Maintain Confidentiality, 

(a)      For good and valuable consideration, including without limitation the 
portion of the Purchase Price allocated in respect of these covenants, Seller agrees that for a 
period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending three (3) years from the Closing 
Date (the "Nn„-Conu>ete Term"), Seller shall not, and shall use its best efforts to ensure that 
any agents, representatives and any other Persons acting on tsbehatf (SeU«rand such agents 
representatives, and other Persons being collectively referred to as the Restricted Persons ) do 
not, directly or indirectly, for the benefit of any Restricted Person or any of their respective 

Affiliates: 

(i)       induce, persuade, or attempt to induce or persuade any customer of the 
Business to divert any of its business away from the Business, or otherwise terminate its 
relationship with the Business; or 

(ii)      hire retain or attempt to hire or retain any employee or independent 
contractor of the Business, or solicit, attempt to solicit, participate in the solicitation of, or 
otherwise advise or encourage any employee, independent contractor, agent, consultant or 
representative of the Business to terminate his or her relationship with the Business, in 
each case, other than with respect to the Covered Employees (as defined herein). 

(b)      Subject to Section 4.04 hereof, Seller acknowledges it has knowledge of 
certain technical, commercial and marketing information, data and material regarding the 
Company and the Business including, without limitation, lists of customers, trade secrets and 
other Proprietary Information of the Company, which Seller has historically treated as 
confidential and proprietary (the 'Tn.firtential Information^. Seller agrees that a substantial 
portion of the Purchase Price is being paid for such Confidential Information and that it 
represents a substantial investment having great economic and commercial value to Purchaser, 
and constitutes a substantial part of the value to Purchaser of the Business. SeUer acknowledges 
that Purchaser would be irreparably damaged if Seller did not afford such Confidential 
Information at least the same level of confidentiality as Seller afforded such Confidential 
Information prior to the date hereof, in the ordinary course of business (i.e. if any of the 
Confidential Information was disclosed to, or used or exploited on behalf of, any Person other 
than Purchaser, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates). Accordingly, Seller 
covenants and agrees that Seller shall not, and shall use its best efforts to ensure that each other 
Restricted Person does not, without the prior written consent of Purchaser, disclose use or 
exploit any such Confidential Information, for the benefit of any of such Restricted Persons or of 
any third party, except that Seller may disclose, use or exploit a particular item of Confidential 
Information if and to the extent (but only if and to the extent) that such item: 

(i)       is or becomes publicly known or generally known in the industry through 
no act of any Restricted Person or otherwise in violation of this Section 4.01; 
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(u)      is required to be disclosed to or by order of a Governmental Authority or a 
court of law or otherwise as required by applicable law; sodded, that prior to any such 
disclosure, notice of such requirement of disclosure is provided to Purchaser and 
Purchaser is afforded the reasonable opportunity to object to such disclosure; 

fiffl is disclosed to Seller by a third party, provided that such disclosure is not 
prohibited by any legal, contractual, fiduciary or other confidentiality obligation owed to 

Purchaser; or 

(iv)     is required to be disclosed to the parties' attorneys, accountants or other 
agents or employees in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

4.02    Tax Matters. 

(a)      Tax Returns. Seller shall duly prepare, or cause to be prepared, and file, or 

respect to any period ending on or before the Closing Date. 

A,)      r^r^rinn on Tax Matters. Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate rally, as 

provision of records and information which are reasonably relevant to such Audit Neriher 
Purchaser nor Seller shall dispose of any records relating to Taxes paid or payable by the 
Company and which are attributable to Pre-Closing Tax Periods pnor to the later of die 

sixth anniversary of the Closing Date relating to any such Taxes. 

(c)       Seller shall be responsible for all income taxes of the Company for all 
taxable periods or portions thereof ending on or before the Closing Date. In die case of any 
taxable period that includes but does not end on the Closing Date, the amount of any such Taxes 
based on or measured by income or receipts shall be allocated between the portions of such 

taxable period that are before and after the Closing Date proportionately based on the number of 
days in each such portion. 
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403    *^ of Business. Purchaser agrees tot if ft is solicited by its customer, or by 

line that is actually and successfully provisioned and billed by such other party. 

•        4 04    rw•*- Service Sharing. Purchaser acknowledges that customer service 

inbound minutes on the VoX toll free number that rings in the customer service center of the 

Company. 

4 05    ^pi^T^ing Agreement At or prior to the Closing, Cyber Digital, smmmm 
"revered Employees'"), shall provide the services specified therein. 

4 06    rennet of the Bu^s Pending Closing. From and after the date hereof until 
the Closing, except (x) as required by applicable law, (y) as otherwise expressly contemplated by 
this Agreement, or (z) with the prior written consent of Purchaser: 

(a) the Company shall, and Seller shall cause the Company to, conduct the 
•   Business only in the ordinary and usual course consistent with past practices; 

(b) the Company shall, and Seller shall cause the Company to, use 
commercially reasonable efforts to (A) preserve the present business operations, orgamzation and 
goodwill of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and (B) preserve the present relationships with 
customers, suppliers, licensors and licensees of the Company and its Subsidiaries; and 

(c) the Company shall not, and Seller shall not permit the Company to: 

(i)       pay discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, 
accrued contingent or otherwise), other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction in the 
ordinary and usual course of business and consistent with past practice of liabilities and 
obligations incurred in the ordinary and usual course of business and consistent with past 

practice; 
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(ii)     borrow any amount or incur or become subject to any other liabilities 
(absolute or contingent), other than trade payables in the ordinary course of business; 

(iii) declare or made any payment or distribution of cash or other property to 
Seller or purchase or redeem, or make any agreements to purchase or redeem, any of its 

equity securities; 

(iv)     issue, deliver, sell, pledge or encumber, or authorize, propose or agree to 
the issuance, delivery, sale, pledge or encumbrance of, any shares of capital stock or 
bonds or any other security (or any right to acquire such capital stock or other security, 
including options) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any right, options or 
warrants with respect thereto; 

(v)      effect any recapitalization, ^classification or like change in the 
capitalization of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or declare or pay dividends on 
or make other distributions in respect of, any of its capital stock, or issue or authorize the 
issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its 
capital stock, or repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or modify or amend, any shares 
of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other securities thereof 
or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities; 

(vi)      cancel any debts owing to the Company or waive any claims or rights, 
except in the ordinary course of business; 

(vii)    sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, any of the Assets; 

(viii)   dispose of, fail to take reasonable steps to protect, or permit to lapse, any 
rights for the use of, any Intellectual Property, or dispose of, fail to take reasonable steps 
to protect, or disclose to any Person any Proprietary Information or Confidential 
Information; 

(ix)     make any change in any its methods of accounting or accounting practices; 

(x)      write off as uncollectible any notes or accounts receivable, other than in 
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 

(xi)     make any capital expenditures or capital expenditure commitments; 

(xii)    enter into any transaction or series of related transactions providing for 
payments in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate, whether or not in the ordinary course of 

business; 

(xiii)   make any material change in the manner in which products or services are 

developed or marketed; 
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(xiv) loan or advance any amount to, or make any payments to or receive any 
payments from, or sell, transfer or lease any of its assets to, any Affiliate, except in the 
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 

(xv)    discharge or satisfy any Encumbrance or pay any obligation or liability 
(absolute or contingent), other than current liabilities paid in the ordinary course of 
business consistent with past practices; 

(xvi)   make any change in the cash management or working capital management 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course of business; 

(xvii)  (A) terminate, cancel or request any material change in, or agree to any 
material change in, any Subsisting Contract, or (B) enter into any contract which would 
constitute a Subsisting Contract as defined herein, other than in the ordinary course of 

. business consistent with past practices; 

(xviii) adopt, agree to adopt, or make any announcement regarding the adoption 
of (i) any new. pension, retirement or other employee benefit plan, program or policy or 
Cii) any amendment to any existing plan, policy or program; 

(xix)   increase the compensation, bonuses or benefits of any employee, officer, 
director or consultant of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than annual 
increases in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices at the regularly 

scheduled times; 

(xx)    amend or modify any of the organizational documents of the Company, 

(xxi)   make any material election with respect to Taxes or make any change in 

any such election; 

(xxif)  change its methods of accounting in effect at November 30,2005, except 
as required by changes in GAAP as agreed to by the Company's independent public 
accountants or as may be required by applicable law, 

(xxiii) make any charitable contributions or pledges; 

(xxiv) settle any pending Legal Proceeding to which the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries is a party, except as otherwise listed on Schedule 4.06fcXxxiv); or 

(xxv)   suffer, authorize, agree or commit to take any of the actions set forth in 
this subparagraph (c). 

4.07    Publicity. 

(a)      Neither Purchaser, Seller nor the Company, nor any of their respective 
Subsidiaries Affiliates or Representatives, shall issue any press release or public announcement 
concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without obtaining the prior 
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written approval of each of the other parties hereto, unless, in the reasonable and good faith 
judgment of Purchaser or Seller, as the case may be, upon the advice of counsel, disclosure is 
otherwise required by applicable law or by the applicable rules of any stock exchange on which 
either Cyber Digital or Seller lists securities; provided, that, to the extent required by applicable 
law the party intending to make such release shall use its commercially reasonable efforts 
consistent with applicable law to consult with the other party with respect to the content thereof. 
The parties hereto agree that the initial press release to be issued in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby shall be in a form mutually agreed by them. 

< 
(b)      In addition, Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate with each other m 

preparing and making one or more internal announcements to the employees of the Company 
designed to provide information to such employees with respect to, among other things, 
transition issues, in order to promote a smooth transition. 

4 08    Negotiations. From and after the date hereof and until the earlier to occur of the 
Closing or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof, Seller shall not, and 
shall not permit or cause any of its Subsidiaries, the officers and directors of Seller, or any 
Persons controlled by Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective Representatives 
to directly or indirectly, encourage, solicit, engage in discussions or negotiations with, or provide 
any information to, any Person or group (other than Purchaser or any of Purchaser's 
Representatives) concerning any merger involving the Company, sale of all or any portions) of 
the consolidated assets of the Company, sale of the shares of capital stock of me Company or any 
of its Subsidiaries or any other transaction similar to the transactions contemplated hereby. 
Seller shall promptly communicate to Purchaser any inquiries or communications concerning any 
such transaction which Seller or its Subsidiaries may receive. 

4 09    Notification of Developments. Seller shall give reasonably prompt notice to 
Purchaser, and Purchaser shall give reasonably prompt notice to Seller, of the occurrence or non- 
occurrence of any event, the occurrence or non-occurrence of which, as the case may be, would 
cause or be reasonably expected to cause any condition set forth in Article YE not to be satisfied 
from the date hereof to the Closing; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant 
to this Section 4.09 shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to a party 
receiving such notice or the representations and warranties of the parties contained herein, or the 
conditions to the obligations of the parties hereto. 

4.10     Access to Information: Cooperation: Financial Statements. 

(a)      During the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the 
earlier of (i) the Closing Date and (ii) the date on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to 
the terms hereof, upon reasonable prior notice to Seller or the Company, Purchaser shall be 
entitled through its Representatives, to reasonable access (subject to restrictions imposed by 
requirements of applicable Law) during normal business hours to the properties, businesses and 
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries and such examination of the books and records of 
the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, tax returns, work papers, 
financial operating data, monthly financial statements and other documents and information 
relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries) as it reasonably requests and, if the Company or 
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Seller so requests, Purchaser or its Representatives shall be accompanied by a Representative of 
the Company or Seller. In addition, the Company shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, 
permit Purchaser's senior officers to meet, upon reasonable notice and during normal business 
hours with the chief financial officer and other officers of the Company responsible for the 
Company's financial statements and internal controls to discuss such matters as Purchaser may 
dee%necessary or appropriate, among other things, in order to enable Purchaser, following the 
Closing, to satisfy its obligations under applicable law. Notwithstanding anything.herein to the     - 
contrary, (0 no investigation or receipt of information pursuant to mis Section 4.10(a) shall 
qualify any representation or warranty of Seller or the conditions to the obligations of Purchaser 
Cii) no such investigation or examination pursuant to this Section 4.10(a) shall be permitted to the 
extent that it would require Seller or the Company or any of their Subsidiaries to provide any 
information or access that Seller or the Company reasonably believes could violate any 
applicable law, or conflict with any confidentiality obligations to which Seller, the Company or 
any of their Subsidiaries is bound or cause the forfeiture of any attorney-client privilege and (in) 
prior to the Closing, without the prior written consent of a Representative of Seller or the 
Company (who shall be identified in writing to Purchaser as the Representative contemplated by 
this provision), (x) Purchaser shall not contact any suppliers to, or customers of, the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, and 
(y) Purchaser shall have no right to perform invasive or subsurface investigates of the 
properties or facilities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 

(b)      Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) Seller shall prepare 
and deliver to Purchaser, as promptly as practicable, unaudited financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended November 30,2006, prepared by Seller consistent with its usual and 
historical practice, and (ii) Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with 
Purchaser and to provide such assistance as Purchaser may reasonably request to enable 
Purchaser, from and after the Closing, to prepare such financial statements for Purchaser and its 
Subsidiaries (including the Company, following the Closing) as may be required by applicable 
law or by the applicable rules of any stock exchange on which Cyber Digital lists securities. 

4 11    Tke of Certain Assets. From and after the Closing, (a) Purchaser shall allow 
Seller to continue using certain assets owned by the Company at the Existing Office, as set forth 
on Schedule 4.11. for no additional consideration, and (b) Purchaser shall allow Seller to 
continue using the three (3) offices currently occupied by the Covered Employees, and the re aled 
amenities, currently available at the Existing Office, and in consideration therefor, Seller shall 
pay Purchaser 50% of the costs associated with the use of such offices and amenities. 

4.12    Kepulatorv Approvals. 

(a)       Purchaser shall make or cause to be made all applications, notifications 

and/or filings required of it in connection with the Regulatory Approvals as promptly as 
.practicable and, in any event, within five (5) business days after the date of this Agreement, and 
Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser as may be necessary in connection with each such 
application, notification and/or filing, including by furnishing to Purchaser any information in the 
possession of Seller or the Company, as the case may be, required for any such application and/or 

filing. 
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(b)      Each of Purchaser and Seller, as the case may be, shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to resolve such objections, if any, as may be asserted by any Governmental 
Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in connection with the 
Regulatory Approvals. In connection therewith, if any Legal Proceeding is instituted (or 
threatened to be instituted) challenging any transaction contemplated by this Agreement in 
connection with the Regulatory Approvals, each of Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate and use 
commercially reasonable efforts to contest and resist any such Legal Proceeding, and to have 
vacated, lifted, reversed, or overturned any order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, 
that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents, or restricts consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement m connection with the foregoing, each of Purchaser and Seller 
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take promptly any and all steps necessary to avoid or 
eliminate each and every impediment arising in connection with the Regulatory Approvals that 
may be asserted by any Governmental Authority, so as to enable the parties to close the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement as expeditiously as possible. 

ARTICLE V 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER 

Simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Seller shall deliver to 
Purchaser a disclosure schedule with numbered sections corresponding to the relevant sections of 
this Agreement (the "Schedules'"). Except as otherwise set forth in the Schedules, Seller 
represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows: 

5 01    QrpsmiTatmn. The Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of New York. The Company has no Subsidiaries  The 
Company has all requisite power and authority to enable it to own, lease or otherwise hold its 
properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Company is duly 
qualified and in good standing to do business in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its 
business or the ownership, leasing or holding of its properties makes such qualification 
necessary, except where the absence of such qualifications, individually or in the aggregate, 
would not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect. The 
Company maintains a company minute book (and other similar records of organizational or 
management proceedings), copies of each of which have previously been provided to Purchaser. 

5.02    Shares and Related Matters: No Investments. 

(a)       Seller owns in the aggregate 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
the Common Stock, which constitute 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of the capital 
stock of the Company. As of the Closing (but immediately prior to the execution of the New 
Note Documents), the Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, will be free 
and clear of all Encumbrances (other than any Encumbrances created by the Existing Note 
Documents), and will not be subject to any pre-emptive rights or other similar rights of 
shareholders of the Company. There are no shares of preferred stock of the Company 
outstanding. 
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(b)      The Company has no outstanding instruments convertible into or 
exchangeable for any capital stock in the Company or containing any profit participation features, 
nor does it have outstanding any rights or options to subscribe for or purchase any instruments 
convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock in the Company The Company is not 
subject to any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to repurchase or otherwise acquire or retire 
anycapital stock or any warrants, options or other rights to acquire any capital stock m the 

Company. ^^ ^ ^ preemptive rights or rights of refusal with respect to the sale 
of the Shares hereunder. Assuming the truth and accuracy of the representations and warranties 
contained in Section 6.08, the offer, sale and issuance of the Shares as contemplated by this 
Agreement are exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and any 
applicable U.S. state securities laws, and neither Seller nor any authorized agent acting on its 
behalf has taken or will take any action hereafter mat would cause the loss of such exemptions. 

(d)      The Company does not own or hold any Investment in any Person. 

5 03     Authorization. Seller has all requisite power and authority to enter into this 
Agreement and the other agreements, instruments, documents and certificates (collectively, the 
"Related Documents") to be executed and delivered by Seller in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby and thereby. All corporate acts and other proceedings required to be taken by Seller or 
me Company to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the 
Related Documents to which it is a party, and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly and properly taken. 

5 04    Valid and Binding. This Agreement constitutes (and, when executed and 
delivered at Closing, each Related Document will constitute) a valid and binding obligation of 
Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, except that (a) such enforcement 
may be limited by or subject to any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or 
similar laws now or hereafter in effect relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally and (b) 
the remedy of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief are subj ect 
to certain equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding 
therefor may be brought 

5 05    Consents and Approvals of Governmental Authorities. No consent, approval or 
authorization of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is 
required to be obtained by Seller in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of 
this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for (a) 
informational filings with the SEC and as may be required under state securities or "blue sky- 
laws and (b) the Regulatory Approvals. 

5 06    No Violation. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.06. the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and each Related Document by Seller, and the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and the compliance by Seller with the terms 
hereof and thereof, does not and will not contravene, conflict with, or result in any violation of or 
default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give nse to a right of 
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termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration of any obligation or loss of any benefit 
under result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance of any kind upon any of the 
Assets or properties of Seller under, or impair any of the Company's rights or alter the rights or 
obligations of any third party under, any provision of: (a) any Subsisting Contract; (b) the 
Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws of Seller; or (c) any judgment, order, decree, statute, law, 
ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to any of the Assets or properties of Seller. Schedule 
5,06 hereto sets forth all necessary notices, consents, waivers and approvals of parties or third- 
party beneficiaries to any Subsisting Contracts as are required thereunder in connection with the 
execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the Related Document and 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, or for any such 
Subsisting Contract to remain in full force and effect without limitation, modification or 
alteration after the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related 
Document and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, so as to 
preserve all rights of, and benefits to, the Company under such Subsisting Contracts. Following 
the Closing Date, the Company will be permitted to exercise all of its rights under the Subsisting 
Contracts without the payment of any additional amounts or consideration other than any 
ongoing obligations, fees, royalties or payments which the Company would otherwise be required 
to satisfy, perform or pay pursuant to the terms of such Subsisting Contracts had the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement not occurred. 

5.07    Financial Statements. 

(a) Seller has furnished or made available to Purchaser copies of the interim 
unaudited financial statements of the Company (the "Unaudited Financial Statements'7) for the 
nine months ending August 31,2006 (the "Interim Financial Statement Date") and the audited 
consolidated financial statements of Seller (the "Audited Financial Statements" and, together 
with the Unaudited Financial Statements, the "Financial Statements") for the fiscal years ended 
November 30, 2005 and November 30,2004. The Financial Statements have been prepared by 
the Company or Seller on the basis of the books and records maintained in the ordinary course of 
business in a manner consistently used and applied throughout the periods involved. The 
Financial Statements fairly present the financial condition and operating results of the Company 
as of the dates, and for the periods, indicated therein, subject in the case of the Unaudited 
Financial Statements to normal year-end audit adjustments. Except as disclosed in the Financial 
Statements, the Company is not a guarantor or indemnitor of any indebtedness of any other 
Person, firm or corporation. The Company maintains and will continue to maintain a standard 
system of accounting established and administered in accordance with GAAP applied on a 
consistent basis during the periods involved. 

(b) The Company has no liabilities except for (i) liabilities reflected in the 
Financial Statements and (ii) liabilities which have arisen after the Financial Statement Date in 
the ordinary course of business of the Company. 

5.08    Interim Operations. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.08. since the Interim 
Financial Statement Date: 
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V 

(a) the Business has been conducted by the Company only in the ordinary and 

usual course consistent with past practices; 

(b) there has not occurred any change, event or circumstance that has had, or 
could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect; 

(c) the Company has not: 

(i)       paid, discharged or satisfied any claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, 
accrued contingent or otherwise), other than the payment, discharge or section mthe 
ordinary^ and usual course of business and consistent with past practice of liabilities and 
obligations incurred in the ordinary and usual course of business and consistent with past 

practice; 

(if)      borrowed any amount or incurred or become subject to any other liabilities 
(absolute or contingent), other than trade payables in the ordinary course of business, 
except as set forth on Schedule 5.08(cXiT); 

Oii) declared or made any payment or distribution of cash or other property to 
Seller or purchased or redeemed, or made any agreements to purchase or redeem, any of 

its equity securities; 

(iv)     issued, delivered, sold, pledged or encumbered, or authorized, proposed or 
••agreed to the issuance, delivery, sale, pledge or encumbrance of, any shares of capital 
stock or bonds or any other security (01 any right to acquire such capital stock or other 
security, mcluding options) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any right 
options or warrants with respect thereto; 

(v)       effected any recapitalization, rectification or like change in the 
capitalization of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or declared or paid dividends on, 
ormade other distributions in respect of, any of its capital stock, or issued or authorized 
the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of 
its capital stock, or repurchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired, 01 modified or 
amended, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any 
other securities thereof or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or 

other securities; 

(vi)     canceled any debts owing to the Company or waived any claims or rights; 

(vii)    sold, transferred, or otherwise disposed of, any of the Assets; 

f viii)   disposed of, failed to take reasonable steps to protect, or permitted to 
lapse any rights for the use of, any Intellectual Property, or disposed of, failed to take 

' reasonable steps to protect, or disclosed to any Person any Proprietary Information or 
Confidential Information; 

(ix)     made any change in any its methods of accounting or accounting practices; 
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(x) written off as uncollectible any notes or accounts receivable, other than in 
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 

(xi)     made any capital expenditures or capital expenditure commitments in 
excess of $10,000 individuaUy or $25,000 in the aggregate, except as set forth on 

SrheAi1e5.08(cyxiV, 

(xa) entered into any transaction or series of related transactions providing for 
payments by or to the Company in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate, whether or not in 

the ordinary course of business; 

(xiii)   made any change in the manner in which products or services have been 

developed or marketed; 

(xiv)   had any labor dispute or received notice of any grievance with respect 

thereto; 
fry)    loaned or advanced any amount to, or made any payments to or received 

any payments from, or sold, transferred or leased any of its assets to, any Affiliate, except 
in the ordinary course of business; 

fxvi)   discharged or satisfied any Encumbrance or paid any obligation or liability 
(absolute or contingent), other than current liabilities paid in the ordinary course of 
business consistent with past practices; 

(xvii)  made any change in the cash management or working capital management 
of the Company other than in the ordinary course of business; 

(xviii) (A) terminated, canceled or requested any material change in, or agreed to 

of business consistent with past practices, in either case, other than as set forth on 
Schedule 5.08(c¥xviii); 

(xix)   adopted, agreed to adopt, or made any announcement regarding the 
adoption of (A) any new pension, retirement or other employee benefit plan, program or 
policy or (B) any amendment to any existing plan, policy or program; 

(xx)    increased the compensation, bonuses or benefits of any employee, officer, 
director or consultant of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than annual 
increases in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices at the regularly 
scheduled times, other than as set forth on Schedule 5.08fc)(xx); 

(xxi)   amended or modified any of the organizational documents of the 
: Company; 
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(xxii) made any material election with respect to Taxes or made any change in 

any such election; 

fxxiii) made any change in its methods of accounting in effect at November 30, 
2005 except as required by changes in GAAP as agreed to by the Company's 
independent public accountants or as required by applicable law; 

(xxiv) made any charitable contributions or pledges, other than as set forth on 

grhftrinle.5.08fc¥xxiv); 

(xxv)  settled any Legal Proceeding to which the Company is or was a party, 
other than as set forth on Schedule 5.08(c¥xxvV, or 

(xxvi) suffered or agreed to take any of the actions set forth in this subparagraph 

Co); 

(d) the Business has been conducted by the Company only in the ordinary and 

usual course consistent with past practices; 

(e) the Company has taken no steps to seek protection pursuant to any 

of any fact which would reasonably lead a creditor to do so; and 

(f) none of the Assets has suffered any damage, destruction or casualty loss 
(as a result of fire, explosion or otherwise), whether or not covered by insurance. 

5.09    Taxes. 

to      Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.09(a): (i) the Company has timely filed 

Bfiirllf 
fl>)      There are no ongoing Audits of the Company and the Company has not 

5.09(b). 

(c)      There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, 
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for the consent for the extension of the time for the assessment of any Tax against lie Company, 

except as disclosed in Schedule 5.09fcV 

(d)      There are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other then Taxes not yet due and 

pa#le)uponLypmpe#OTa^^ 

to      No claim has ever been received from an authority in a jurisdiction where 
the Company docs not file Tax Returns that the Company is or may te subject to taxation by that 

jurisdiction. 
(ft      The Company is not a party to or bound by any Tax sharing or allocation 

transferee or successor). 

(a)      Except as disclosed on Scftwfale 5.09fgV the Company will not be 

(h)      The Company is not a party to any joint venture, partnership or other 

therefrom has not expired. 

ft       Except as disclosed on Bchedule^O^ the Company has not engaged in 
any transaction for which their participation is required to be disclosed under Treasury 

Regulation section 1.6011-4. 

fi)       Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.09TO. the Company has not made any 

Section 280G of the Code. 

5 11     Condition of Property. All Tangible Property of the Company is maintained in 
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Property is in need of replacement, maintenance or repairs except for ordinary routine and 
immaterial maintenance and repairs, the aggregate cost of which is not material. 

5.12     Contracts zr>* Commitments. 

(a)      Schedule 5.12(a) lists each Subsisting Contract (copies of which have 
heretofore been delivered to Purchaser) and sets forth and describes in reasonable detail all 
currently effective oral agreements and commitments, if any, to which the Company is a party, 
(i) Each such Subsisting Contract is in full force and effect, and constitutes a valid and binding 
agreement of each of the parties thereto, enforceable in accordance with its terms; (u)no such 
Subsisting Contract has been breached in any material respect, canceled orrepudiatedby the 
Company or, to Seller's knowledge, by any other party thereto; (m) no such other party has 
indicated in writing or orally to Seller or the Company that it will stop or decrease the rate of 

performed by it in connection with such Subsisting Contracts, is not in receipt of any claim of 
default under any such Subsisting Contract, and is not in possession of any information W 

to any such Subsisting Contract 

(b)       Schedule 5.12(h) hereto contains an accurate and complete list of all 
Tangible Property Leases included in the Business. All such leases are valid, binding and 
enforceable against each of the parties thereto in accordance with their terms. Such leases are in 
full force and effect; with respect to each, to the knowledge of Seller, there are no existing 
defaults, and there is no event which (whether with or without notice lapse of time or the 
happening or occurrence of any other event) would constitute a default thereunder of a party 

thereto. 

5 13    Title to Assets. The Company has good and marketable title to, or a valid 
leasehold interest in, all of the properties and assets used by it, which are set forth on Sch^le. 
5 13 (the "Assets"), free and clear of all Encumbrances, except as set forth on Schedule >.W. 
Thlitems ofTalgible Property of the Company are in good operating condition in all material 
respects and are fit for use in the ordinary course of business. The Company owns, or has a valid 
leasehold or other interest in, and after the Closing the Company will continue to own, or have a 
valid leasehold or other interest in, all assets necessary for the conduct of the Business as 

has been conducted through the Closing Date, except as set forth on Schedule 5.13. 

5 14    Insurance. The Company maintains policies of fire and casualty, liability and 
other forms of insurance in such amounts, with such deductibles and againstsuch risks and 
losses, as are customary for companies engaged in businesses similar to the Business to protect 
the Business, the Assets, and the employees, properties and operations of the Company and will 
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ate to action of to Sharcs by Acqtoitto Sub and to sonsum^on of to transactto,* 

contemplated hereby. 

515    Rmplnvees aH T*hr>r Relations. 

extent 
(b)       srf^ite S.lSfM hereto contains the names of all persons currency 

Business. 

terms is attached hereto as Schedule 5.15(c). 
(d)      There are no loans outstanding from the Company to any of the 

Employees. 

_,o_,^o:%e^=::=^=i-of 
his or her employment relationship with the Company. 

(f)      None of the Employees has given or received notice of termination of his 
or her employment with the Company. 
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(g)      None of the Employees is the subject of any material disciplinary action 
nor is any Employee engaged in any grievance procedure and there is no matter or fact in 
existence which can be reasonably foreseen as likely to give rise to the same. 

5 16    Licenses: Permits. The Company has duly obtained and now holds all material 
licenses franchises, permits and similar authorizations issued or granted by any Governmental 
Authority which are necessary or desirable for the conduct of the Business by the Company in the 
States of New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. The Company has complied in all material 
respects with all requirements in connection therewith, and the Company is not in default in any 
material respect under any of such licenses, franchises, permits or other similar authorizations. 
Seller has no reason to believe that all franchises, permits, licenses, and any similar 
authorizations necessary for the conduct of the Business by the Company in the States of New 
York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania will not be granted in the ordinary course within a 
reasonable period of time after application therefor, and prior to the time the same is required 
under applicable law, and no necessary or desirable licenses, franchises, permits or other similar 
authorizations that the Company has applied for have been denied or are expected not to be 
granted by any Governmental Authority. The material licenses, franchises, permits and similar 
authorizations necessary for the conduct of the Business, other than the Regulatory Approvals, 
are set forth on Schedule 5.16. 

5.17    Litigation. 

(a)       There is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, 
threatened (or, to the knowledge of Seller, and except as set forth on Schedule 5.17(a), any valid 
basis for any of the foregoing): 

(i)       which is or may be brought against or which involves the Company 
or the Business or which arises from any act or omission by any present or former 
officer, director, agent or employee of or the Company; 

(ii)      which questions or challenges the validity of, or seeks damages or 
equitable relief on the basis of, this Agreement or any action taken or to be taken 
by Seller pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby, or 

(iii)     which might affect the right of Acquisition Sub after the Closing 
Date to own the Shares or to conduct the Business as presently conducted; 

(b) Seller knows of no facts mat could reasonably be expected to serve as the 
basis for any Legal Proceeding against the Company, or Acquisition Sub upon its acquisition of 
the Shares as contemplated hereby, or any of their respective present or former directors, officers, 
or employees, affecting, involving or relating to the Business or the Assets. 

(c) No Governmental Authority has challenged or questioned the legal right of 
the Company to conduct its operations as presently or previously conducted. 

25 
KU246612J.10 



5.18    Court Orders, TWrees. and Laws. 

(a)      There is no outstanding or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened order, 

any applicable federal, state or local law, regulation, ordinance, zoning requirement, 

the federal patent, copyright, and trademark laws, state trade secret an unfair competition laws, 
and to all other applicable laws, including equal opportunity, wage and hour and other 
employment matters, and antitrust and trade regulations safety (including OSHA), 
en4onmental (including wetlands), antipoUution, building, zoning or health laws, ordinances 

and regulations. 

(b)       Schedule 5.18(b) sets forth, with respect to the Company, all material 
approvals, authorizations, certifications, consents, variances, permission^ licenses, or permits; to 
or from, or filings, notices, or recordings or registrations to or with, any Governmental Authority 
(the "AnthorizatJonO, including, without limitation, all Authorizations permitting the provision 
by the Company of Local or long distance or international telecommunication services. The 
Authorizations constitute all approvals, authorizations, certifications, consents, variances, 
permissions, licenses, or permits to or from, or filings, notices, or recordings to or with, any 
Governmental Authority that are required for the ownership and use of the Assets and the 
conduct of the Business under federal, state, and local law, regulation, ordinance, or decree 
except to the extent that the failure of the Company to have any of the foregoing would nothave, 
and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth on 
RrhmWeS.lBfbl the Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with all terms and 
conditions of such required Authorizations. All of the Authorizations are in full force and effect, 
and to Seller's knowledge, no suspension or cancellation of any of them is being threatened. 
Except as set forth on Schedule 5.18(b), the Company is in compliance, in all material respects, 
with all other applicable limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, 
requirements, obligations, schedules, and timetables contained in those laws or contained in any 
law regulation, code, plan, order, decree, judgment, notice, or demand letter issued, entered, 
promulgated,' or approved thereunder relating to or affecting the Business. 

5.19    Employee Benefit Plans. 

(a)      Schedule 5.19 hereto lists each employment, consulting, bonus, deferred 
compensation, incentive compensation, severance, termination or post-employment pay, 
disability hospitalization or other medical, dental, vision, life or other insurance, stock purchase, 
stock option, stock appreciation, stock award, pension, profit sharing, 401(k) or retirement plan, 
agreement or arrangement, and each other employee benefit plan or arrangement arising out ot 
the employment or the termination of employment of an employee, former employee, retiree or 
sales personnel by the Company (each a "Company Plan"). Each such Company Plan is 
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sponsored by Seller and not sponsored by the Company. At Purchaser's request, Seller will work 
with Purchaser to transfer the Company's employees to a plan utilized by Purchaser. 

(b)      All Company Plans have been maintained in compliance with their terms 
and applicable law. There are no pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened claims 
against the Company with respect to any Company Plan, except for claims for benefits in me 
ordinary course. Any Company Plan that provides medical or health benefits is fully insured. 
All contributions and premium payments required to be made with respect to any Company Plan 
have been timely made or properly accrued on the Financial Statements. 

5 20'   Amounts Receivable. All trade accounts receivable of the Company have arisen 
in the ordinary course of business in arms-length transactions for services that are collectible in 
me ordinary course of business. The Company has available in its records copies of invoices and 
of letters of agency with respect to all such accounts receivable. 

521    Broker's Fees. No Person has acted, directly or mdiiectly, as a broker, finder or 
financial advisor for Seller in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, 
and neither the Company nor Seller has incurred any obligation or liability for any broker's, 
finder's or agent's fees or commissions in connection with the transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement 

5.22 Intellectual Property. The Company owns or has the right to use all Intellectual 
Property free from burdensome restrictions or any licenses to or rights of others in respect 
thereof which are used in or are necessary for the operation of their respective businesses as 
presently conducted or proposed to be conducted. Schedule 5.22 contains a true and correct list 
and brief description of all Intellectual Property owned by or licensed to the Company as of the 
date hereof. None of the Company's present or contemplated operations or other use of 
Intellectual Property infringes any patent, trademark, service mark, trade name, franchise, 
copyright, license or other right owned by any other Person, and there is no pending or, to 
Seller's knowledge, threatened claim or litigation against or affecting the Company contesting its 
right to engage in any such operation, or contesting the validity of any of the Intellectual 
Property, and to Seller's knowledge, there is no basis for any such charge or claim. 

5.23 Investment Company Act The Company is not an "investment company" or a 
company controlled by an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment 
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"). None of the sale of the 
Shares hereunder or the application of the proceeds thereof or repayment, or the consummation 
of the other transactions contemplated hereby or under any other Related Document, will violate 
any provision of the Investment Company Act or any rule, regulation or order of the SEC 

thereunder. 

5 24    Bank Accounts: Powers of Attorney. Statutory Deposits. Schedule 5.24 contains 
(a) a true and complete list of the names and locations of all banks, trust companies, securities 
brokers and other financial institutions at which the Company has an account or safe deposit box 
or maintains a banking, custodial, trading, trust or other similar relationship, (b) a true and 
complete list and description of each such account box and relationship, and (c) a true and 
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complete list of all signatories for each such account and box. Except as set forth on Schedule 
5.24, the Company has not granted a power of attorney to any Person authorizing such Person to 
make any commitment on behalf of the Company. 

525    Related Persons. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.25: (a) no officer, director or 
shareholder of the Company or any member of his or her immediate family or any Affiliate of 
any of the foregoing (collectively, "Related Persons'! is indebted to the Company, nor is the 
Company indebted (or committed to make loans or extend or guarantee credit) to any of them, 
other than (i) for payment of salary for services rendered, (ii) reimbursement for reasonable 
expenses incurred on behalf of any Company, and (iii) for other employee benefits made 
generally available to all similarly situated employees; and (b) no Related Person has any direct 
or indirect ownership interest (i) in any products, services, facilities, software or other personal 
property or any real property owned, leased, licensed or used by the Company, (ii) in any Person 
with which the Company has a contractual relationship, or (iii) in any Person that competes with 
the Company. No Related Person is, directly or indirectly, interested in any Subsisting Contract. 

5.26 Restrictions on Business Activities. Except as required by or pursuant to 
applicable Law, there is no judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation of 
any Governmental Authority binding upon the Company, its properties or the Assets which has 
the effect of prohibiting or materially impairing any Company from (a) acquiring any property or 
asset, (b) conducting any business in any location, (c) hiring any Person or consulting firm, or (d) 
declaring-or paying any dividend or other distribution to its shareholders. 

5.27 Disclosure. No representation or warranty in this Article V, in the Schedules or in 
any certificate or other Related Document furnished by Seller to Purchaser in connection with 
this Agreement contains or will contain any untrue statement of material fact or omits or will 
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the 
circumstances in which they are made, not misleading. 

ARTICLE VI 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER 

...   Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital hereby each represent and warrant to Seller as follows: 

6.01 Orgaiuzation. Each of Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital is duly incorporated, 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. 

6.02 Authorization. Each of Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital has all requisite power 
and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Related Documents to be executed and 
delivered by it in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby. All corporate acts and other proceedings required to be taken 
by each of Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital to authorize the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and the Related Documents to which it is a party, and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly and properly taken. 
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6 03    Valid and Binding. This Agreement constitutes (and, when executed and 
delivered at Closing, each Related Document will constitute) a valid and binding obligation of 
each of Acquisition Sub and Cyber Digital, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, 
except mat (a) such enforcement may be limited by. or subject to any bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws now or hereafter in effect relating to or limiting 
creditors' rights generally and (b) me remedy of specific performance and injunctive and other 
forms of equitable relief are subject to certain equitable defenses and to the discretion of the 
court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought 

6 04    Consents and Approvals ofClnvm-nmental Authorities. No consent, approval or 
authorization of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is 
required to be obtained by Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital in connection with the execution, 
delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, except for (a) informational filings with the SEC and as may be required 
under state securities or "blue sky" laws and (b) the Regulatory Approvals. 

6 05    Litigation. There is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of 
Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital, threatened that questions or challenges the validity of, or seeks 
damages or equitable relief on the basis of, this Agreement or any action taken or to be taken by 
Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby, nor to the knowledge of Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital is 
there any valid basis for any such Legal Proceeding. 

6 06    Disclosure. No representation or warranty in this Article VI or in any certificate 
or other Related Document furnished by Purchaser to Seller in connection with this Agreement 
contains or will contain any untrue statement of material fact or omits or will omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they 
are made, not misleading. 

6 07    Broker's Fees. No Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or 
financial advisor for Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital in connection with the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, and Purchaser has not incurred any obligation or liability for 
any broker's, finder's or agent's fees or commissions in connection with the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, except in connection with the New Note and the New Note 
Documents. 

6.08     Securities Matters. Purchaser acknowledges and represents and warrants to Seller 

as follows: 

(a)      Purchaser is familiar with the Business and the Company. 

O)      Purchaser has been advised that the Shares may not be sold, transferred, or 
otherwise disposed of except as provided herein, and understands that the Shares have not been 
registered under the Securities Act, or any state securities laws, in reliance on an exemption for 
private offerings or the fact that the Shares are not securities and, if the Shares are securities, 
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Purchaser may not be able to resell such Shares unless registered under the Securities Act and 
any applicable state securities laws or unless an exemption from such registration is available. 

(c) Purchaser is a "sophisticated investor" with substantial prior experience in 
business investments of the type described in this Agreement, and is aware of and familiar with 
the risks associated with the Business and the Company, and would qualify as an "accredited 
investor" as such is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D, as enacted pursuant to Sections 3(b) 
and 4(2) of the Securities Act 

(d) Purchaser is acquiring the Shares for its own account, for investment only 
and with no present intention of distributing, reselling, pledging, or otherwise disposing of such 
Shares, or any portion thereof. 

(e) Purchaser is familiar with the type of investment which the Shares 
constitute and has reviewed the acquisition of such Shares with its legal counsel and other 
advisors to the extent it deems necessary. 

(f) Purchaser acknowledges that the Shares may have to be held indefinitely 
and that Purchaser can afford to do so, and to lose its entire investment in the Shares. 

(g) Purchaser recognizes that there has been no public market for the Shares 
and that after its acquisition of the Shares, there will be no such market, and Purchaser 
understands that it cannot expect to be able to freely liquidate the Shares in case of emergency. 

(h)      Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no representations or 
warranties have been made to Purchaser by Seller or by any agent, employee, director or affiliate 
thereof and, in entering into the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Purchaser is not 
reiving upon any information other than the results of its own independent investigation. 

ARTICLE VH 

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING 

7.01    Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Purchaser Hereunder. All obligations 
of Purchaser hereunder with respect to the purchase of the Shares are subject to the fulfillment, to 
the satisfaction of Purchaser and its legal counsel prior to or at the Closing, of each of the 
following conditions, except to the extent that Purchaser may waive any one or more thereof as 
permitted by applicable law: 

(a)      each of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article V 
hereof, the Schedules hereto and in all certificates and other documents delivered or to be 
delivered by Seller or the Company pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby, disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained therein relating to 
materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true, complete and accurate and correct in all 
material respects as of the date when made and at the Closing Date (or, if given as of a specific 
date, as of such date); 
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(b) the Company and Seller shall have performed and complied in all material 
respects with all agreements, obligations and conditions required by this Agreement to be 
performed or complied with by each of them on or prior to the Closing; 

(c) no Legal Proceeding by any Governmental Authority or other Person shall 
have been instituted or threatened that seeks to restrain, enjoin, prevent the consummation or 
otherwise affect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which questions the validity 
or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby or the ability of Seller to transfer the Shares 
hereunder to Purchaser; 

(d) Seller shall have delivered to Purchaser, or shall have caused to be 
i delivered to Purchaser, each of the items required to be delivered to Purchaser in accordance with 
Section 3.02 hereof; 

hereof, 
(e)      there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect since the date 

(f)       the Regulatory Approvals shall have been obtained and/or made; 

(g)      the transactions contemplated by the TSI Agreement shall have been 
consummated in accordance with the terms thereof; 

(h)       at the Closing Date (and immediately prior to the Closing), the Company 
shall have on its balance sheet (which shall be evidenced to Purchaser to its reasonable 
satisfaction) at least $100,000 in cash or cash equivalents, at least $62,407 in total property and 
equipment (based on the historical cost thereof), and no less than $(555,171) in net working 
capital (exclusive of $132,000 in deferred revenue), as described and set forth in Schedule 
7.01(h); and 

(i)       Purchaser shall have received the resignations of each of the directors and 
officers of the Company in office immediately prior to the Closing. 

7.02    Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Seller Hereunder. All obligations of 
Seller hereunder with respect to the sale of the Shares are subject to the fulfillment, to the 
satisfaction of Seller and its legal counsel prior to or at the Closing, of each of the following 
conditions, except to the extent that Seller may waive any one or more thereof as permitted by 
applicable law: 

(a)      each of the representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in 
Article VI hereof and in all certificates and other documents delivered or to be delivered by 
Purchaser pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, 
disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained therein relating to materiality or material 
adverse effect, shall be true, complete and accurate and correct in all material respects as of the 
date when made and at the Closing Date (or, if given as of a specific date, as of such date); 
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(b) Purchaser shall have performed and complied in all material respects with 
all agreements, obligations and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or 
complied with by it on or prior to the Closing; 

(c) ,.. the transactions contemplated by the TSI Agreement shall have been 
.consummated in accordance with the terms thereof, 

(d) no Legal Proceeding by any Governmental Authority or other Person shall 
.have been instituted or threatened that seeks to restrain, enjoin, prevent the consummation or 
otherwise affect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which questions the validity 
or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby OT the ability of Purchaser to purchase the 
Shares hereunder from Seller, and 

(e) Purchaser shall have delivered to Seller, or shall have caused to be 
delivered to Purchaser, each of the items required to be delivered to Seller in accordance with 
Section 3.03 hereof. 

ARTICLE Vm 

SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES: DAMNIFICATION 

8.01 Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties 
made by each party hereto in this Agreement or in the attached Schedules or in any exhibit or 
certificate delivered pursuant hereto shall survive the Closing hereunder and any investigation at 
any time made by or on behalf of any other party through the first anniversary of the Closing 
Date; provided, however, that the representations and warranties of Seller set forth in Sections 
5.01,' 5.02, 5.03, 5.04, 5.09 and 5.21, and the representations and warranties of Purchaser set 
forth in Sections 6.01, 6.02, 6.03 and 6.04, shall survive until the expiration of all applicable 
statutes of limitations (including all periods of extension, whether automatic or permissive). 

8.02 Notice of Damages. If either party seeks indemnity hereunder (the "Indemnified. 
Party"! the Indemnified Party shall give the other party from whom indemnity is sought 
hereunder (the "Indenmitor") prompt notice (hereinafter, the 'Indemnification Notice") of any 
demands, claims, actions or causes of action (collectively, "Claims") asserted against the 
Indemnified Party. Failure to give such notice shall not relieve the Indemnitor of any obligations 
which the Indemnitor may have to the Indemnified Party under this Article Vm, except to the 
extent that such feilure has materially adversely prejudiced the Indemnitor under the provisions 
for indemnification contained in this Agreement. For purposes of this Article Vm, Acquisition 
Sub or Cyber Digital, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand, shall be deemed to be the 
"Indemnified Party" or the "Indemnitor". as the case may be. 

8.03 Agreements to mdemnify. 

(a)      Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VEL Seller covenants 
and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Acquisition Sub, Cyber Digital and then- 
Affiliates (including any officer, director, stockholder, partner, member, employee, agent or 
representative of any thereof) (a "F^rchaserAffifiate") from and against all assessments, losses, 
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damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, including without limitation interest, penalties and 
reasonable fees and expenses of legal counsel chosen by Acquisition Sub, Cyber Digital or a 
Purchaser Affiliate (collectively, "Damages"), imposed upon or incurred by Acquisition Sub, 
Cyber Digital or any Purchaser Affiliate arising out of or in connection with or resulting from (i) 
any breach of any representation or warranty of, or non-fulfillment of any covenant or agreement 
of. Seller contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement or any Schedule hereto, or any 
certificate furnished or to be furnished to Purchaser hereunder or thereunder, or (ii) any of the 
matters described on Schedule 8.03(a) hereto; provided, that with respect to each such matter set 
forth on Schedule 8.03(a). Seller's indemnification obligations hereunder with respect thereto 
shall not exceed the amount set forth opposite such matter on such Schedule 8.03(a). Seller 
further covenants and agrees to mdemnify, defend and hold harmless any Purchaser Affiliate and 
the Company from and against all Taxes for which Seller is responsible under Section 4.02(c) 
hereof to the extent that such Taxes exceed the reserve established therefor. 

(b) Each of Acquisition Sub, Cyber Digital and, from and after the Closing, 
the Company, covenants and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Seller and its 
Affiliates (including any successor or assign, officer, director, stockholder, partner, member, 
employee, agent or representative thereof) ("Seller Affiliates") from and against all Damages, 
imposed upon or incurred by such Indemnified Party arising out of or in connection with or 
resulting from any breach of any representation or warranty of, or non-fulfillment of any 
covenant or agreement of, Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital contained in or made pursuant to this 
Agreement or any certificate or other instrument furnished or to be furnished to Seller hereunder 
or thereunder. 

(c) The Indemnitor shall reimburse the Indemnified Party promptly after 
delivery of an Indemnification Notice certifying that the Indemnified Party has incurred Damages 
after compliance with the terms of this Article Vffl, provided, however, that the Indemnitor shall 
have the right to contest any such Damages in good faith. 

8.04    Conditions of Indemnification of Third Party Claims. The obligations and 
liabilities of an Indemnitor under Section 8.03 hereof with respect to Damages resulting from 
Claims by Persons not party to this Agreement shall be subject to the following terms and 
conditions: 

(a) Promptly after delivery of an Indemnification Notice in respect of a Claim, 
and subject to paragraph (c) of this Section 8.04, the Indemnitor may elect by written notice to 
the Indemnified Party, to undertake the defense thereof with counsel reasonably satisfactory to 
the Indemnified Party, at the sole cost and expense of Indemnitor. If the mdemnrtor chooses to 
defend any claim, the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with all reasonable requests of the 
Indemnitor and shall make available to the Indemnitor any books, records or other documents 
within its control that are necessary or appropriate for such defense. 

(b) In the event that the Indemnitor, within a reasonabl e time after receipt of an 
Indemnification Notice, does not so elect to defend such Claim, the Indemnified Party will have 
the right (upon further notice to the Indemnitor) to undertake the defense, compromise or 
settlement of such Claim for the account of the Indemnitor, subject to the right of the Indemnitor 
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to assume the defense of such Claim pursuant to the terms of paragraph (a) of this Section 8.04 at 
any time prior to settlement, compromise or final determination thereof, provided, that the 
Indemnitor reimburses in full all costs of the Indemnified Party (including reasonable attorney's 
fees and expenses) incurred by it in connection with such defense prior to such assumption. 

(c)     Anything in this Section 8.04 to the contrary notwithstanding, (i) if the 
Indemnified Party believes there is a reasonable probability mat a Claim may materially and 
adversely affect the Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in 
the defense, compromise or settlement of such Claim, provided that the Indemnitor shall not be 
liable for expenses of separate counsel of the mdemniTied Party engaged for such purpose, and 
(ii) no Person who has undertaken to defend a Claim under Section 8.04(a) hereof shall, without 
the written consent of all Indemnified Parties, settle or compromise any Claim or consent to entry 
of any judgment which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the release by the 
claimant or the plaintiff of all Indemnified Parties from all liability arising from events which 
allegedly give rise to such Claim. 

8.05 Pursuit of Claims: Limitation on Indemnification. Any breach of any 
representation or warranty as to which a bona fide claim for indemnification has not been 
asserted in accordance with Section 8.03 hereof prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the 
date of the expiration of the applicable survival period set forth in Section 8.01 hereof may not be 
pursued, and hereby is irrevocably waived. If a claim for indemnification is made in accordance 
with Section 8.03 prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date of the expiration of the 
applicable survival period set forth in Section 8.01, then, notwithstanding such survival period, 
the representation or warranty applicable to such claim will survive until, but only with respect to 
any such claim that was timely made and only for the purpose of, the resolution of such claim by 
final, nonappealable judgment or settlement In any event, the parties shall fully cooperate with 
each other and their respective counsel in accordance with Section 8.04 in connection with any 
such litigation, defense, settlement or other attempted resolution. 

8.06 T .imitation upon De MJnimjs Indemnification Obligations. Except for Claims for 
the indemnification of any Tax or any breach of Section 5.09 hereof, no party hereunder shall be 
required to mdemnify the other party hereunder until such time as the Indemnified Party's actual 
Damages in the aggregate equal or exceed $50,000, at which time the Indemnifying Party shall be 
responsible for the entire amount of Damages incurred. 

ARTICLE DC 

RESERVED 

ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

10.01   Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein, each of the parties hereto will 
pay its own expenses incurred by or on its behalf in connection with this Agreement or any 
transaction contemplated by this Agreement, whether or not such transaction shall be 
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consummated, including without limitation all fees of its respective legal counsel and 
accountants. 

10 02 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, consents or waivers and other 
communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have 
been duly given if delivered by hand or by telecopy (with immediate confirmation), one (1) 
business day after being sent if by nationally recognized overnight courier or if mailed, then four 
days after being sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested with postage 
prepaid: 

(a) If to Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital, to: 

CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
400 Oser Avenue, Hauppauge, New York 11788 
Attention: Chief Executive Officer 
Telecopy. 631-231-1446 

and to: 

KRAMER LEVIN NAFTALIS & FRANKEL LLP 
1177 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10036 
Attention: Scott Rosenblum, Esq. 
Telecopy: 212-715-8000 

(b) If to Seller, to: 

ELEC COMMUNICATIONS CORP. 
75 South Broadway, Suite 302 
White Plains, NY 10601 
Attention: Chief Executive Officer 
Telecopy: 914-682-0820 

and to: 

PRYOR CASHMAN SHERMAN & FLYNN LLP 
410 Park Avenue 
New York, New York 10022 
Attention: Eric M. Hellige, Esq. 
Telecopy: (212) 798-6380 

or, in each case, to such other Person or address as any party shall furnish to the other parties in 
writing. 

10.03   Binding: No Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and 
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permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations 
hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the 
other party, except by operation of law; provided, however, that (i) Acquisition Sub or Cyber 
Digital may assign all or part of this Agreement or its rights hereunder (a) to a Purchaser 
Affiliate, (b) to Laurus in connection with the New Note and the New Note Documents and (c) 
from and after the Closing, to a Person not a party to this Agreement which acquires all or 
substantially all of the assets of Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital and who assumes all of the 
obligations of Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital hereunder, as the case may be, provided in each 
such case that no such assignment shall release Acquisition Sub or Cyber Digital, as the case may 
be, fiom its duties and obligations hereunder, and (ii) Seller may assign all or part of this 
Agreement or its rights hereunder to an Affiliate of Seller who assumes all of the obligations of 
Seller hereunder, provided that no such assignment shall release Seller from its duties and 
obligations hereunder. 

10.04 Severabilitv: Suspension Provisions. If in any jurisdiction, any provision of this 
Agreement or its application to any party or circumstance is restricted, prohibited or 
unenforceable, such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of 
such restriction, prohibition or unenforceabiUty without invalidating the remaining provisions 
hereof and without affecting the validity or enforceabiltty of such provision in any other 
jurisdiction or its application to other parties or circumstances. In addition, if any one or more of 
the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason in any jurisdiction be held to be 
excessively broad as to time, duration, geographical scope, activity or subject, it shall be 
construed, by limiting and reducing it, so as to be enforceable to the extent compatible with the 
applicable law of such jurisdiction as it shall then appear. 

10.05 Governing Law: Arbitration. 

(a) All of the terms, conditions, and other provisions of this Agreement shall 
be interpreted and governed by reference to the laws of the State of New York, and any dispute 
arising therefrom and the remedies available shall be determined in accordance with such laws 
without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law. 

(b) Any disagreement, dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating 
to this Agreement, or the breach, termination or validity thereof (a "Dispute"), shall first be 
negotiated between the Chief Executive Officer of Seller or his designee (on behalf of Seller), on 
the one hand, and the Chief Executive Officer of Cyber Digital or his designee (on behalf of 
Purchaser), on the other hand, for attempted resolution by good faith negotiation within thirty 
(30) days after the parties have been notified that a Dispute exists, 

(c) In the event that respective Chief Executive Officers (or their dcsignccs) 
are unable to resolve such Dispute within such thirty (30) day period, said Dispute shall be 
referred to binding arbitration for resolution in accordance with the Rules for Non-Adrninistered 
Arbitration of Business Disputes, promulgated by the Center for Public Resources, 366 Madison 
Avenue, New York, New York 10019 ("CPR") and in effect as of the date of this Agreement. 
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(d) The arbitration shall be held in New York, New York unless Seller, on the 
one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, agree to an alternate location, in which case the 
arbitration shall be held at such alternate location. There shall be one arbitrator who shall be an 
attorney specializing in mergers and acquisitions law with at least fifteen (15) years of experience 
and who shall be appointed from a list of such attorneys maintained by the CPR or a member of 
the Judicial Panel of the Center of Public Resources for the resolution of disputes similar to the 
Dispute. Each party shall have the right to exercise two (2) peremptory challenges within 48 
hours of being advised of the selection of an arbitrator. 

(e) After consulting with the parties, the arbitrator shall devise procedures and 
deadlines for the arbitration with the goal of expediting the proceeding and completing the 
arbitration within sixty (60) days after the date of referral. There shall be no discovery other than 
limited document discovery which may be granted to the extent reasonable and necessary as 
determined in the discretion of the arbitrator. Neither party shall be entitled to discovery as a 
matter of right 

(f) The arbitrator shall render his or her decision and proscribe a fair and 
reasonable award within thirty (30) calendar days of the close of the arbitration proceeding. The 
arbitrator's award will state the sum of money, if any, and any equitable relief to be awarded with 
no statement of reasons. The parties shall pay their own costs, fees and expenses of the 
procedures set forth in this Section 10.05. The arbitrator shall decide the matter as would a 
United Stales District Judge sitting in the case, whether under its diversity or federal question 
jurisdiction, except that Federal Rules of Civil Procedure shall not apply, except as specifically 
determined by the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall premise the award upon the claimant's legal 
right to recovery based on the terms of this agreement and the applicable law of the State of New 
York, without regard to conflict of laws rules, together with any applicable provisions of the laws 
of the United States. 

(g) The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding upon the parties and their 
respective heirs, executors, assigns and personal administrators. Barring the existence of any 
circumstance specified by law for the vacatur of the award, the award shall be complied with by 
the party against whom it is directed without necessity for an application to the court for 
confirmation of the award. A judgment may be entered on the award by any court having 
competent jurisdiction. The parties to this agreement hereby consent and submit their person to 
the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and any 
New York State court in New York County for the enforcement of these provisions and any 
award rendered hereunder. 

(h)      The arbitrator shall not be an employee, director, trustee or shareholder of 
any party or an Affiliate of any of the above-referenced Persons, shall be independent and 
impartial and shall abide by the Ethical Standards of Professional Responsibility issued by the 
Society of Professionals in Dispute Resolution in effect as of the date of this Agreement. Prior to 
accepting an appointment in this case, the arbitrator must promptly disclose any circumstances 
likely to create a reasonable inference of bias or conflict of interest or likely to preclude 
completion of the hearings within the prescribed time schedule. The arbitrator may be removed 
for cause consisting of actual bias, conflict of interest or other serious potential for conflict. 
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(i)       The proportion in -which the parties shall pay the costs, fees and expenses 
of the procedures set forth in this Section 10.05 pursuant to paragraph (e) above shall be split 50- 
50 between Seller, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand. Each party shall pay its 
own costs (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and disbursements) and expenses in 
connection with these procedures. l 

(j)       Any negotiations hereunder or any proceedings with an arbitrator shall be 
private and confidential. Except as may be required by applicable law, no party shall make (or 
instruct the arbitrator or any other Person to make) any public announcement with respect to the 
proceedings or decisions without the prior written consent of the other party hereto. The existence 
of any Dispute submitted to an arbitrator hereunder, and the award of such arbitrator, shall be kept 
in the strictest confidence by the parties and such arbitrator, except as may be required in 
connection with the enforcement of such award or as otherwise required by applicable law. 

(k)      Each party hereto irrevocably and unconditionally consents to the service 
of any and all process in any such action or proceeding by the mailing of copies of such process 
by certified mail to such party and its, his or her counsel at their respective addresses specified in 
Section 10.02. 

10.06 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument '-' 

10.07 Headings. The title of this Agreement and the headings of the Sections and 
Articles of and the Schedules to this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not be 
used in construing or interpreting this Agreement 

10.08 Entire Agreement; Amendment Waiver. This Agreement including any exhibits 
and schedules hereto and other documents, instruments and certificates delivered pursuant to the 
terms hereof, sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties hereto in respect of 
the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, promises, covenants, 
arrangements, representations or warranties, whether oral or written, by any party hereto or any 
officer, director, employee or representative of any party hereto. No modification or waiver of 
any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and signed by both parties 
hereto. The waiver of breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of any other breach of the same or any other term or condition. 

10.09 Third Parties. Except as specifically set forth or referred to herein, nothing herein 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any Person other 
than the parties hereto and their successors or assigns any rights or remedies under or by reason 
of this Agreement 

10.10 Reference to Days. All references to days in this Agreement shall be deemed to 
refer to calendar days, unless otherwise specified. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.} 
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IN WITNESS "WHEREOF, fee patties hereto have ceased this Agreement to be duly 
executed aod delivered an the day &ad year first abwvo written, 

PURCHASER: 

CYBD ACQUISITION, DC 

By:  
Name: ^lf. C##7p#?i. 
Tide PAern&tfr 

CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 

Title: PKs$fwr*ce& 

SELLER: 

eLBC COMMUNICATIONS CORP. 

Bv:       UW^/C-^ 
Name:   ^/ //. /^5S 

Titles      £,£-«? 

Wi«WJ« 3? 



New Rochelle Telephone Corp. 
Schedules to Stock Purchase Agreement 

Schedule 1.12 - Intellectual Property 

The Company has a certificate of authority under Section 214 of the Communications 
Act of 1934, as amended. 

The Company has licenses to provide local telephone services in: FL, MA, NJ, NY, OH, 
and PA, and has filed tariffs for the sale of telephone services in each such state. 



Telecarrier Services Inc. 
Schedules to Stock Purchase Agreement 

Schedule 1.12 - Intellectual Property 

The Company has recorded as a trade name eLEC Communications in the states of New 
York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. 

The Company has a certificate of authority under Section 214 of the Communications 
Act of 1934, as amended. 

The Company has licenses to provide local telephone services in MA, NJ, NY and PA 
and has filed tariffs for the sale of telephone services in each such state. 



«T"»» Exhibit "B 

Audited Financials of Cyber Digital, Inc. 



BLANCHFIELD, KOBER  &  COMPANY,  PC. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

1200 VETERANS MEMORIAL HIGHWAY • SUITE 350 • HAUPPAUGE, NEW YORK 11788 • (631) 234-4200 • FAX 234-4272 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Cyber Digital, Inc. 
Hauppauge, New York 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Cyber Digital, Inc. as of March 31, 2006 and 2005 and the 
jslated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period 

flV^d March 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
^responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amount and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2006 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 
concern. As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the Company has not developed a revenue base for 
its digital switching, Internet and networking systems. Accordingly, the Company has not generated sufficient 
cash flow to support its operations. The Company has been principally dependent on the issuance of debt and 
equity securities. These circumstances create substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. The financial statements do not contain any adjustments that may result from the outcome of 
these uncertainties. 

I si Blanchfield, Kober & Company, P.C. 

Hauppauge, New York 
June 27, 2006 



CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
BALANCE SHEETS 

March 31,2006 and 2005 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Inventories 
Prepaid and other current assets 

Total Current Assets 

Property and Equipment, net 

Other Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

IlLITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS* EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and taxes 
Accrued interest - shareholders 
Officer/ shareholder notes payable 
Accrued dividend payable 
Note payable - current portion 
Settlement payable-current portion 

Total Current Liabilities 

Long Term Debt 
Note payable 
Settlement payable 

Total Liabilities 

# 
itments and Contingencies 

Shareholders' Equity (Deficit) 
Preferred stock - $.05 par value; cumulative, convertible and 

Participating; authorized 10,000,000 shares 
Series C; issued and outstanding - 310 shares at 
March 31,2006 and 2005 
Series E; issued and outstanding - 50 and 50 shares at 
March 31,2006 and 2005, respectively 

Common stock - $.01 par value; authorized 60,000,000 shares; 
Issued and outstanding 22,326,542 and 22,326,542 
Shares at March 31,2006 and 2005, respectively 

Additional paid-in-capital 
Accumulated deficit 

Total Shareholders' Equity (Deficit) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

2006 2005 

5,551   $ 16,082 
388,996 526,575 

9.205 35.175 

403,752 577,832 

36,069 6,311 

52.041 26.374 

491,862   % 610,517 

259,295   $ 
293,596 

1,158,300 
19,818 
6,692 
2.583 

226,487 
179,476 
881,300 

7,292 
0 

14.262 

1.740.284 1.308.817 

22,307 
0 

0 
2.583 

1.762.591 1.311.400 

16 16 

3 3 

223,266 
18,872,237 

(20.366.251) 

223,266 
18,866,737 

(19.790.905) 

(1.270.729) (700.883) 

491,862   S 610.517 

See independent accountant's report and notes to financial statements. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

March 31,2006 and 2005 

Net Sales 

Cost of Sales 

Gross Profit 

Operating Expenses 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Research and development 

Total Operating Expenses 

Loss from Operations 

Ofter 

^Kni 

r Income (Expense) 
rest expense 
er expense 

Total Other Income (Expense) 

Loss before Income Taxes 

Provision for Income Taxes 

Net Loss 

Preferred Stock Dividend 

Income Available to Common Shareholders 

Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock (See Note 8) 

Loss from Operations - Basic 
Diluted 

Net Loss - Basic 
Diluted 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

2006 2005 

$ 0 S 0 

137.616 56.000 

(137.616) (56,000) 

$ 266,489 
18.269 

$ 245,741 
25.000 

284.758 270,741 

(422.374) (326.741) 

(117,339) 
(22.950) 

(90,249) 
0 

(140.289) (90.249) 

(562,663) (416,990) 

157 370 

(562,820) (417,360) 

12.526 7.292 

$ (575.346) $ (424.652) 

$ 
$ 

LPJ5J 
LQ25) 

$ 
$. 

$ 
$ 

LQ25J 
LQ25J 

$ 
$ 

22.326.542 22.326.542 

See independent accountant's report and notes to financial statements. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

Years ended March 31,2006 and 2005 

Balance at March 31,2004 

Issuance of E Preferred Stock 

Net Loss 

Accrued Dividend on E Preferred 

Balance at March 31, 2005 

Issuance of stock options 

Net Loss 

AccriB Bdend on E Preferred 

Balance at March 31,2006 

Preferred Stock 
Series C                      Series E 

Shares   Amount         Shares   Amount 
Common Stock 

Shares               Amount 
Paid in 
Capital 

Accumulated 
Deficit HI

 
•4

 

m       LM _A L^0= 22.326.652       S 223.266 $ 18.816.740 $ H 9.366.2531 s 026.2311 

50 3 49,997 

Ml 7.3601 

(-7.2921 

50,000 

(417.3601 

(7.2921 

JM          5-M ^e S      3 3j%32     iaUB $ 18866737 $ (1 9.790.9051 $ (700 8831 

5,500 5,500 

(562,820) (562,820) 

02.5261 (12.526) 

=3JS         LM =J2 s_a 22.326.542       $ 223.266 $ 18.872.237 Sf20.366.2511 $ (1.270.7291 

See independent accountant's report and notes to financial statements. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Years ended March 31,2006 and 2005 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Bad debt expense 
Inventory valuation allowance 
Accrued shareholder interest 
(Increase) decrease in operating assets: 
Prepaid and other current assets 
Other assets 
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities: 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and taxes 
Settlement payable 

# 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 

Flows from Investing Activities 
chase of equipment 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Issuance of preferred stock 
Proceed from note payable 
Proceeds from officer/shareholder loan 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 

^Rsh 
mental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information 

ash paid during the period for: 
Income taxes 

Noncash Operating and Financing Activities 
Accrued preferred stock dividend 
Stock option issued for services 

2006 

(562,820)       $ 

157      $ 

12,526      $ 
5,500 

2005 

(417,360) 

10,388 
22,950 

137,579 
114,120 

440 
0 

56,000 
90,249 

3,021 
(22,500) 

0 
0 

32,808 
(14.2621 

8,425 
00,662) 

(278.716) (272.908) 

(37.814) 0 

(37.814) 0 

0 
28,999 

277.000 

50,000 
0 

209.000 

305.999 259.000 

(10,531) (13,908) 

16.082 29.990 

5,551        $ 16.082 

370 

7,292 

See independent accountant's report and notes to financial statements. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

Cyber Digital, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in the State of New York in April 1983. The Company 
designs, develops, manufactures and markets digital switching, internet and networking systems that enable 
simultaneous communication of voice and data to a large number of users. The Company's systems are based 
on its proprietary software technology. 

Operating and Financing Matters 

Since inception, the Company has devoted substantial resources to the design and development of the 
Company's systems and technology. As such, the Company has not achieved revenue growth and has incurred 
operating losses.   At March 31, 2006, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $20,366,251 and a 
•eholders' deficit of $1,270,729. The decrease in equity from March 31, 2005 to March 31, 2006 is due 

lly to a net operating loss during the fiscal year ended March 31,2006. During the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company received cash advances of $277,000, $209,000 and $305,700 
respectively, from the Chief Executive Officer and a shareholder. An additional $50,000 was raised in August 
2004 from the private placement of unregistered Series E preferred stock. In addition, the Company issued 
common stock under an equity line of credit of $86,362 for the year ended March 31, 2004. The Company 
historically has generated sufficient cash flow to support its operations mainly from issuances of debt and equity 
securities. The Company anticipates additional issuances of debt and/or equity. The viability of the Company is 
dependent upon future revenues and additional issuances of equity. 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

nues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. «i 

air Value of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid 
expenses, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to the relatively short maturity of 
these instruments. The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using available 
market information and the appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessarily required 
in the interpreting of market data to develop the estimates of fair value, and, accordingly, the estimates are not 
necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a current market exchange. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers highly liquid temporary cash investments 
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Inventories 

The Company uses a cost system, which approximates the first-in, first-out method. Inventories are valued at the 
lower of cost or market. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization are 
computed by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Repairs and maintenance are charged 
against operations as incurred. 

Deferred Financing Costs 

^yc Company amortizes deferred financing costs on a straight line basis over the term of the credit agreement. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes product system sales upon shipment and acceptance by the customer. Component 
parts and software sales are recognized upon shipment to the customer. 

Income Taxes 

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the financial statements and consist of 
taxes currently due plus deferred taxes related primarily to differences between the bases of assets and liabilities 
for financial and income tax reporting. The deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the future tax return 
consequences of those differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are 
recovered or settled. 

^•erred taxes also are recognized for operating losses that are available to offset future federal income taxes. 
me Company accounts for investment tax credits using the flow-through method, and thus reduces income tax 
expense in the year the related assets are placed in service. 

Advertising 

The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. 

Research and Development Costs 

Research and development costs are charged to expense when incurred. 

Warranty Expense 

The Company records warranty expense as incurred and does not make a provision as shipments are made. 
Such expense has not been significant. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued Statement No. 121, "Accounting for Impairment of Long- 
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of (FASB 121), which the Company has adopted 
effective April 1, 1996. FASB No. 121 requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held 
and used by the Company be reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. FASB No. 121 also requires that long- 
lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held for sale be reported at the lower of carrying amount of fair 
value less cost to sell. The Company determined that no impairment loss need be recognized for the applicable 
assets. 

ick-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for stock options as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 
25 and includes pro forma information in the stock-based compensation footnote, as permitted by Financial 
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("SFAS 
123"). Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized for stock options granted in 2004 and 2003 since the 
option exercise price is not less than the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. In March 
2000, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 44, "Accounting For Certain Transactions Involving Stock-an 
interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25" ("FIN 44"). FIN 44 clarifies the application of APB No. 25 and among 
other issues clarifies the definition of an employee for purposes of applying APB Opinion No. 25. The 
Company adopted FIN 44 in the first quarter of 2001 with no material effect on the Company's financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. 

kc pent Accounting Pronouncements 

n December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), "Share Based Payment". SFAS No. 123(R) is a 
revision to SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the Company to recognize the cost of employee 
services received in exchange for awards of stock options based on the grant date fair value of those awards. 
The statement is effective for the interim reporting period that begins January 1, 2006. The adoption of 
SFAS No. 123(R) had no effect on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2006. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company places most of temporary cash investments with financial institutions and may exceed the 
FDIC limit. The Company has not experienced any losses to date resulting from this policy. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

Effective for the Company's financial statements for the year ended March 31, 1998, the Company adopted 
SFAS No. 128, "Earnings per Share," which replaces the presentation of primary earnings per share ("EPS") 
and fully diluted EPS with a presentation of basic EPS and diluted EPS, respectively. Basic EPS excludes 
dilution and is computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by the weighted-average 
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Similar to fully diluted EPS, diluted EPS assumes 
conversion of the convertible preferred stock, the elimination of the related preferred stock dividend 
requirement, and the issuance of common stock for all other potentially dilutive equivalent shares 
outstanding. 

e 2 - Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following at March 31: 

Raw materials 
Finished goods 

$ 
2006 

388,996 
 0 

$ 

$ 388.996      $ 

2005 
492,918 

33.657 
526.575 

For the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company has provided valuation allowances of $137,616 
and $56,000, respectively, against its inventory. 

Note 3 - Property and Equipment 

# 

or classes of property and equipment consist of the following at March 31: 

Machinery and equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Vehicle 
Leasehold improvements 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

2006 
339,394     $ 
64,355 
37,814 
4.786 

446,349 
410.280 

2005      Useful Lives 
5 years 
7 years 
5 years 

Lease term 

36.069     $ 

339,394 
64,355 

0 
4.786 

408,535 
402.224 

6.311 

Note 4 - Other Assets 

Other assets consist of various security deposits and deferred financing costs of $54,374. Amortization 
expense for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $2,333 and $0, respectively. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 5 - Officer/ Shareholder Loans Payable 

During the 2002 fiscal year the Company issued a promissory note to its Chief Executive Officer, J.C Chatpar, 
in the amount of $325,000. The note is secured by all assets of the Company. The note was due on March 1l[ 
2003 with interest accrued at 10%. Overdue principal and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, overdue 
interest shall bear interest at the applicable rate plus 2% per annum and shall be payable upon demand. 

During the 2006 fiscal year the Company received additional advances from J.C. Chatpar in the amount of 
$277,000. During the 2005 fiscal year the Company received additional advances from J.C. Chatpar and a 
shareholder in the total amount of $209,000. These additional advances bear the same interest rate as the 
promissory note, are unsecured and are due on demand. Interest expense for the years ended March 31, 2006, 
2005 and 2004 was $96,372, $86,855 and $59,072, respectively. In addition, the Company issued a note 
payable to another shareholder in the amount of $177,000. The note bears interest at 10% and is unsecured. 
Accrued interest at March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $43,839 and $26,091, respectively. Interest expense was 
$ 17,748 and $ 17,700 for the years ended March 31,2006 and 2005. 

(e 6 -Line of Credit 

In November 2005, the Company entered into an investment agreement (an equity line of credit) to provide 
capital. The agreement provides that the Company, at its option, may sell shares of its common stock to the 
investor at a price equal to 95% of the lowest bid price over a 5 day trading period as defined. The sales can be 
in increments no greater than $100,000. The total amount available under the agreement is $10,000,000. The 
amount available under the agreement may be limited to less than $10,000,000 based on the Company's stock 
price. The agreement is effective until December 9, 2008. 

Note 7 - Notes Payable 

hi April 2005, the Company financed the purchase of a vehicle with a note payable. The note bears interest at 
5.79% and is secured by the vehicle. The note requires future payments as follows: 
2007 $ 6,692 
2008 $ 6,868 
2009 $ 7,276 
A> $ 7,709 
Wl                                      $   454 
Total $28.999 

Note 8 - Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

Earnings per share ("EPS") has been computed and presented pursuant to the provisions of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings per Share. 

2006 2005 
Net Loss $ (562,820) $ (417,360) 
Dividends paid on Preferred Stock 12.526  7,292 
Income Available to Common Shareholders $ (575,346) $ (424,652) 
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding 22.326.542 22.326.542 
Basic EPS $ (.025) $ (.02) 
Diluted EPS $ (.025) $ (.02) 

Diluted earnings per share does not include any stock warrants, options, or convertible preferred stock as the 
inclusion of these items would be antidilutive to earnings per share. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 9 - Stock Option Plans 

The Company's Board of Directors adopted, on November 7, 1997, the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1997 
Plan"). The 1997 plan is a successor to the 1993 plan, which has been terminated. Under the terms of the 
1997 Plan, 850,999 shares were reserved for issuance to officers, directors, other employees and consultants 
meeting certain qualifications. During March 2001, the 1997 plan was amended to increase the number of 
shares reserved for issuance from 850,999 to 2,850,999. Under the 1997 Plan, incentive stock options are 
granted at 100% of fair market value on the date of grant. The right to exercise the options accrues equally 
on each of the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. Options granted under the 
plan expire on the day before the tenth anniversary of the plan. 

Pursuant to the 1997 Plan, incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock and stock 
appreciation rights may be granted to such officers, directors, and employees of the Company, and to such 
•isultants to the Company and such other persons or entities, as the Stock Option Committee of the Board of 

ectors (the "Committee") shall select. All incentive stock options ("ISO"), which may be granted only to 
employees and which provide certain tax advantages to the optionee, must have an exercise price of at least 100 
percent of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date the option is granted. No ISOs will be 
exercisable more than 10 years after the date of grant. ISOs granted to ten percent shareholders must have an 
exercise price of at least 110 percent of fair market value and may not be exercisable after the expiration of five 
years from grant. The exercise price and the term of nonqualified stock options will be determined by the 
Committee at the time of grant. 

Stock appreciation rights ("SAPS") may be granted independently or in connection with all or any part of any 
option granted under the 1997 Plan, either at the time of grant of the option or at any time thereafter. The holder 
of a SAP has the right to receive from the Company, in cash or in shares as the Committee shall determine, an 
amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares covered by the SAP at the date of exercise over 
the exercise price set at the date of grant of the SAP. At the request of the holder of an option, the committee 
may at its discretion substitute for the exercise of the option, compensation (in cash or in shares) in an amount 

^^al to or less than the excess of the fair market value of the shares covered by the option at the request date 
A the exercise price set at the grant of the option. 

A restricted stock award, entitling the recipient to acquire shares of common stock for a purchase price at 
least equal to par value may be granted to such persons and in such amounts and subject to such terms and 
conditions as the Committee may determine. Shares of restricted stock may not be sold, assigned, 
transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except as specified in the 1997 Plan or the 
written agreement governing the grant. The Committee, at the time of grant, will specify the date or dates on 
which the nontransferability of the restricted stock shall lapse. During the 90 days following the termination 
of the grantee's employment for any reason, the Company has the right to require the return of any shares to 
which restrictions on transferability apply, in exchange for which the Company shall repay to the grantee any 
amount paid by the grantee for such shares. 

Unless sooner terminated by the Board, the provisions of the 1997 Plan regarding the grant of ISOs shall 
terminate on the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the 1997 Plan by the Board. No ISOs shall thereafter 
be granted under the Plan, but all ISOs granted theretofore shall remain in effect in accordance with their 
terms. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 9 - Stock Option Plans (continued) 

In addition to these plans, the Company has issued non-qualified stock options and warrants upon the approval 
by the Board of Directors. Such options and warrants are granted at 100% of fair market value on the date of the 
grant. Information with respect to non-qualified stock options and warrants is summarized as follows: 

Outstanding, April 1, 2005 
Canceled 
Granted 

Outstanding, March 31,2006 

Price 
$0.15 to $6.00 
$0.40 to $5.15 
$0.15 to $0.50 

Shares 
13,585,768 

(1,290,000) 
1.090.000 

13.385.768 

A summary of options and warrants as of March 31, 2006 follows: 

 Options Outstanding  

Range of 
Exercise Prices 

$0.10 to $0.39 
$0.40 to $1.50 
$2.43 to $3.00 
$4.00 to $5.15 
$5.70 to $6.00 

Outstanding at 
3/31/06 

$     6,495,768 
5,550,000 
1,230,000 

10,000 
100.000 

$    13.385.768 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 
4.84 
3.35 
2.72 
0.41 
0.17 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

Options Exercisable 

Weighted 
Exercisable as Average 

of 3/31/06        Exercise Price 

$ 0.17 
0.52 
2.68 
4.50 
6.00 

4,245,768 
5,547,500 
1,230,000 

10,000 
100.000 

$ 

A21      $ JL5J    $    11.133.268        1 

0.18 
0.52 
2.68 
4.50 
6.00 
0.68 

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 123 "Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation" ("FASB 123"), which is effective for the Company's year beginning April 1, 
1996. As permitted under FASB 123, the Company has elected not to adopt the fair value based method of 
accounting for its stock-based compensation plans, but will continue to account for such compensation under 

^krovisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. Pro forma information regarding net income 
^^earnings per share is required by FASB 123, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted 
for its stock options under the fair value method of that Statement. The fair value for these options was 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

The following assumptions were employed to estimate the fair value of stock options granted: 

Expected dividend yield 
Expected price volatilities 
Risk-free interest rate 
Expected life (years) 

Fiscal Years Ended March 31. 
2006 2005 

0.00% 
4.6% 
3.05% 
5 

0.00% 
150% 
2.65% 
5 

As of January 1, 2006, the Company implemented SFAS No. 123R which requires all option grants and the 
related compensation expense to be recorded at their fair value. The company did not grant any stock 
options subsequent to January 1, 2006. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 9 - Stock Option Plans (continued) 

For pro forma purposes, the estimated fair value of the Company's stock options is amortized over the 
options' vesting period. The Company pro forma information follows: 

2006 2005 
Weighted average fair value of 
Options granted $ 0.033 $ 0.01 
Net Loss 

As reported $ (562,820) $ (417,360) 
Pro Forma (603,843) (441,463) 

Net Loss Per Share 
As reported 

Basic $ (.025) $ (02) 
Diluted $ (.025) $ (.02) 

i   Pro Forma 
"      Basic $ (.027) S (.02) 

Diluted $ (.027) s (.02) 

Note 10 - Convertible, Cumulative and Participating Preferred Stock 

In August 2004, the Company issued 50 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock and 50,000 warrants 
to purchase common stock in a private placement. The Series E preferred stock is entitled to receive a 
cumulative annual dividend equal to 25% of the Series E issue price. The dividend shall be payable in cash 
or in shares of the Company upon conversion or at the end of the three year term. Accrued dividend payable 
on the Series E preferred stock was $ 19,818 at March 31, 2006 and $7,292 at March 31,2005. 

The Series E preferred stock is convertible from August 2005 through August 2007. The conversion price is 
the lesser of $2.00 or the variable conversion price as defined, but not less than $0.20. 

In July 1999, the Company completed a private placement of its 6% Series C preferred stock. The Company 
^nld 310 shares at $1,000 per share. The private placement resulted in the Company receiving proceeds of 
^A 0,000. As of March 31, 2002, there are undeclared dividends of $86,002 on the Series C preferred stock. 

The 6% Series C preferred stock is convertible into restricted common shares at a price to be determined based 
upon the following: 

A. If the notice of conversion is given within ninety (90) days of issuance of the preferred 
shares, the conversion will be $6.00 per restricted common share. 

B. If the notice of conversion is given after ninety (90) days of the issuance of the 
preferred shares, the conversion price will be the lesser of the fixed conversion price 
of $6.00 per restricted common share or eighty-five percent (85%) of the average 
closing price of the Company's common stock for the five trading days prior to the 
conversion date, but not less than 50% of the fixed conversion price. 

The Company has a right to redeem the Series C preferred stock at a price of 120% of the original Series C issue 
price, plus all unpaid dividends at the date of redemption. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 10 - Convertible, Cumulative and Participating Preferred Stock (continued) 

However, the holder has the right to block the redemption by delivering a notice of conversion to the 
Company within seven (7) trading days of the stockholder's receipt of a notice of general redemption. 

In September 1999, the Company completed a private placement of its 8% Series D-l preferred stock. The 
Company sold 3,000 shares at $1,000 per share. The private placement resulted in proceeds of $2,700,000, 
which is net of the stock issuance costs. 

The 8% Series D-l preferred stock is convertible into common shares at a price to be determined based upon 
the following: 

A. If the Company fails to list all its shares of common stock on the New York Stock Exchange, the 
NASDAQ SmallCap Market or the NASDAQ National Market within ninety (90) days of the original 
issuance date, the conversion price will be the lesser of: 

1) 115% of the arithmetic average of the closing bid price of the common stock for the ten (10) 
trading days preceding the issuance date. 

2) 80% of the lesser of the average of the three lowest closing sales prices of common stock during 
the twenty (20) consecutive trading days prior to the conversion or the closing bid price on such 
date. 

B. The Company has a right to redeem the Series D-l preferred stock if the conversion price drops below 
$3.00 per common share at the following prices: 

1)  Prior to April 4, 2000, a price of $1,150 per share plus all accrued dividends. 

2)  Between April 5, 2000 and October 4, 2000, a price of $1,200 per share plus all accrued 
dividends. 

er October 4, 2000, the preferred stock cannot be redeemed by the Company. 

ring the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company did not pay dividends to the Series D- 
1 preferred stockholders who converted their Series D-l preferred stock. 

Note 11 - Income Taxes 

The Company has net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes amounting to approximately $12.5 million 
that may be offset against future taxable income which expire through 2026. 

Deferred income taxes are recognized for differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial 
statement and income tax purposes. The utilization of these tax attributes is contingent upon the Company's 
ability to generate future taxable income and tax before the tax attributes expire as well as Internal Revenue 
Code limitations. As a result, a valuation allowance equal to the full extent of the deferred tax asset has been 
established. 

The change in the deferred tax asset (as well as the valuation account) was approximately $85,000 and $105,000 
for the fiscal years ended March 31,2006 and 2005, respectively. 
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CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 and 2005 

Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies 

Employment Contract 

On August 3, 2001, the Company renewed the employment agreement with the Chairman. The agreement is for 
a three year period covering August 4, 2001 through August 3, 2004. This agreement is renewable for 
successive three-year periods. 

Under this employment agreement, the Company is obligated to pay the Chairman $150,000 for the period 
ending August 3, 1998 with an annual increase of 10% for each subsequent year under the terms of 
employment. The Company also agrees that its Board of Directors may raise the Chairman's salary as soon 
as the financial resources of the Company and other business conditions permit. In such event, the 
Chairman's salary shall be comparable to that of chief executive officers of other technology driven publicly 
held companies. 

This employment agreement can terminate for one of the following reasons:  (1) disability, (2) death, (3) for 
^^ise, and (4) without cause, change in control. 

The following payout terms apply if this agreement is terminated: 

1. In the case of disability, the Chairman shall be paid until the end of the month in which such disability 
occurs. The Chairman will receive royalties of 5% of the gross revenues earned by the Company each 
month for a period of fifteen years from the effective date of termination. 

2. If the agreement terminates due to the death of the Chairman, the agreement shall terminate immediately, 
except that the Chairman's wife, if any, or otherwise his estate, shall receive the Chairman's salary until 
the termination date, payments in the amount of the Chairman's base salary for a period of six months 
from the date of termination and the aforementioned royalty. 

3. If the agreement terminates due to cause, the Chairman shall receive his regular salary until the end of the 
month in which such termination occurs. Cause is defined as willful misconduct by the executive or the 
conviction of a felony. The Chairman must be notified at least ten days prior of his termination. 

# If the agreement terminates due to a change in control or without cause, the Chairman shall receive his 
salary until the end of the month in which he is terminated in an amount equal to three years base salary 
plus three times the prior year bonus, the aforementioned royalties and all of the Chairman's outstanding 
options will be deemed immediately vested and exercisable for a period of one year from the effective 
date of termination. 

Operating Leases 

The Company leases space under a noncancelable operating lease in Hauppauge, New York. This lease is 
for a five-year period and expires on May 31, 2009. This location is the Company's executive offices and 
operations. Rent expense was $70,471 and $55,481 for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. 

The Company also has noncancelable operating leases for vehicles and equipment. The monthly rental is $835. 
The amount charged to expense was $4,068 and $10,484 for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. 

Page 15 



CYBER DIGITAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31,2006 AND 2005 

Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
Operating Leases (continued) 

Future minimum rentals are as follows: 
For years ending     March 31,2007 $58,220 

March 31,2008 $58,220 
March 31, 2009 $58,220 
March 31, 2010 $15,703 

Government Regulation 

The Company's operations are highly sensitive to regulations promulgated by the United States and throughout 
the world in which the Company has targeted its marketing efforts. These regulations or deregulations could 
affect both the competition for the Company's product as well as the costs associated with doing business 
abroad. 

ding Litigation 

Although, as of the issuance date, no legal action has commenced against the Company or its directors by 
Uniworld Communications Co., ("UCC"), a New York company, they have threatened the Company and its 
directors for a possible litigation arising due to the contention that the Company refused to remove restrictive 
legend on 500,000 shares of common stock of the Company held by UCC. The Company had issued 500,000 
restricted shares to UCC pursuant to a stock option agreement. The Company believes that UCC's threatened 
claims, if any, are without merit and the Company will vigorously defend its position. 

The Company is a defendant in an action arising from an alleged improper termination of a licensing and lease 
agreement with Cummings Properties, LLC. In June 2003, this action was settled. The settlement requires the 
Company to pay $28,223 over 36 months. The settlement bears interest at 15%. The Company has charged the 
cost of the settlement to other expense for the year ended March 31, 2003. The balance of the settlement 
payable at March 31,2006 was $2,583. 

ote 13 - Foreign Operations 

^ ing the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998, the Company formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Cyber Digital 
(India) Private Limited, under the rules and regulations of the government of India. The subsidiary has not 
begun operations and has no assets as of March 31, 2006 and 2005. 

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002, the Company financed a wholly owned subsidiary, Cyber 
Digital (Nigeria) Ltd. under the rules and regulations of the government of Nigeria. The subsidiary has not 
begun operations and has no assets as of March 31, 2006 and 2005. 

Note 14 - Going Concern Uncertainty 

The Company is focused on the development and maintenance of its proprietary operating system software 
and the pursuit of various revenue sources. The Company continues to be dependent on short-term loans 
from stockholders and officers, and private placement of equity securities to provide sufficient working 
capital to continue its operations. While the Company is currently negotiating to obtain new funding and is 
encouraged by recent legislative changes, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain the 
necessary funding to continue as a going concern. 
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«/~<55 Exhibit "C 

Pre Transfer Flow Chart 
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Pre-Transfer of Control Flow Chart 
For 

Telecarrier Services, Inc. 

Telecarrier Services, Inc. 

100% Stock Owned by 
eLEC Communications Corp. 

CYBD Acquisition II, Inc. 

100% Stock Owned by 
Cyber Digital, Inc. 

( CYBD Acquisition II, Inc. will acquire eLEC's stock of Telecarrier Services, Inc. This transaction will only involve a change of the 
ultimate authority, not a transfer of customers. Telecarrier Services, Inc. will continue to provide telecommunication services to its 
existing customers.) 
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Post Transfer Flow Chart 
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Post Transfer of Control Flow Chart 
For 

Telecarrier Services, Inc. 

Telecarrier Services, 
Inc. 

100% Stock Owned 
by CYBD 

Acquisition n, Inc. 
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